states to the former Soviet Union.

In June 2000, Lithuania’s Procurator General met with the Deputy Attorney General and
Director Rosenbaum. The Procurator General asked for DOJ's assistance in investigating Nazi-
era war crimes. In response to that request, an OSI historian and an OS] attorney went to
Lithuania in early 2001 to discuss several cases. The significance of the meetings was
underscored by the fact that they were attended also by the U.S. Ambassador,

Lithuania has since asked for information about some subjects under investigation,
although it has also declined to file charpes against a Lithuanian ordered deported to Lithuania in
May 2002.* Lithuania also initiated an extradition request to Scotland, although the subject died
before court proceedings were completed.”

In July 2004, Lithuania filed criminal charges against Algimantas Dailide, an OSI
defendant who left for Germany during appeal of a court ruling ordering him deported to
Lithuania. Lithuania did not seek his extradition, but expressed the hope that he would return
voluntarily. He did, and was found guilty in March 2006 of collaborating with the Nazis and
persecuting Jews. However, due to his advanced age, no sentence was imposed. The U.S.
government praised Lithuania for the prosecution but expressed disappointment that Dailide was
“not . . . punished for his crimes.™ As of this writing, the case is on appeal.

Lithuania has also cancelled the rehabilitation of several dozen Nazi collaborators.” In
2002, Lithuania’s parliament ratified a new extradition treaty with the United States. It covers
genocide directly.

3. Latvia

As with Lithuania, Latvia has sent mixed signals about its perspective on its role in the
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Second World War. The Supreme Council of the newly-independent Republic of Latvia issued a
— Proclamation Against Genocide and Anti-Semitism in September 1990. “In the name of the
people of Latvia,” the document:

unequivocally condemns the occurrence of genocide against the Hebrew Nation,

during the years of Hitler's occupation, which resulted in the killing of more than

80,000 Latvian Hebrews. . .

With deep regret we acknowledge that among those who helped carry out the

terror of the occupiers, there were also Latvian citizens. There is not now, nor can

there ever be justification, nor a statute of limitations, for the bloody genocide

against he Hebrew Nation — a crime against humanity.

In 1992, the Latvian Procurator’s Office signed a MOU with the Department of Justice.
The parties agreed to provide legal assistance on a reciprocal basis in the investigation of
individuals who are suspected of having engaged in Nazi-sponsored acts of persecution or of
having assisted in the commission of such acts. And in February 1998, the Latvian president
went to [srael and apologized for the role his country had played in the murder of Jews.®

Yet barely one month later, the Latvian Army commander, the head of the Navy, and five
members of parliament joined a parade of more than 500 former members of a Latvian S§ unit to
mark the unit’s 55" anniversary. (The Army commander was fired for his participation.)®

O8I's dealings with Latvia were most intense in the case of Konrads Kalejs. Kalejs was a
company commander in the Latvian Auxiliary Security Police (eponymously known as Arajs
Kommando (AK) for its leader Viktors Arajs).® The AK was an execution squad composed of
Latvian volunteers who worked with German forces to murder "racially undesirable” persons
and/or political enemies of Nazi Germany. After the war, Kalejs settled in Australia and became

a naturalized citizen. He emigrated to the United States in 1959 but never sought U.S.



citizenship.

(OS] serendipitously learned of his presence. When searching for another member of the
AK, they lcamned that he was dead but that his widow was in the country. She was living with
Kalejs, a name OSI recognized from the AK roster.

In October 1984, OS] filed suit to deport Kalejs on the ground that he had assisted in the
persecution of civilians based on race, religion, national origin or pelitical opinion and had
concealed these material facts when he applied for a visa. The complaint pointed to the AK's
role in liquidating Jews, shooting gypsies, and guarding prisoners at various camps. OS]
presented testimony from an historian, three camp survivors, and Latvians who knew or served
with Kalejs during World War I1. (The latter group testified through depositions taken in the
Soviet Union). There was also documentary evidence, including the text of an interview with
Arajs himself, Kalejs® main defense was that the evidence was unreliable because it largely came
{from the Soviet Union. The court agreed that the deposition testimony was of limited value but
relied heavily on the archival records in ordering Kalejs' deportation. The ruling was affirmed
and he was deported to Australia in April 1994.%

Kalejs® long-time companion lived in Winnetka, Ilinois, and OS5I suspected Kalejs might
go to Canada to be near her. Ol alerted Canadian officials to be on the watch,

(51's forebodings proved correct. Kale)s was arrested when he entered Canada in
December 1994, In June 1995, a month before his Canadian deportation proceeding was to
commence, he voluntarily returned to Australia, Three months later, he was caught again
attempting to enter Canada. This time he did not depant before the hearing, which was held

intermittently between February 1996 and March 1997, Most of the Canadian evidence was
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material from OS] which had been used in the U.S. proceedings. The Canadians also introduced
a report written by an OSI historian on the background of the AK.*

Kalejs® defense, once again, was that he was framed by doctored Soviet evidence. The
magistrate disagreed, concluding that as a guard commandant Kalejs was "a party 1o the offences
of murder and Kidnaping and failed to provide for the necessaries of life." Such acts and
omissions constituled war crimes or crimes apainst humanity. The Canadian magistrate siressed
that there was no evidence to suggest that Kalejs "hated Jews or that he was a cruel, perverse
sadistic monster with a blackened soul.” That, as the magistrate saw it, was part of the ultimate

tragedy.

Given the glerification of war and the manipulation of emotions and thoughts by

regimes and society, creating a climate of hate and arrogance and intolerance, it

may be thal society asks too much of the individual, but often the individual does

nol ask enough of himself.

Kalejs was deported to Australia,

Jewish groups were outraged that he was returning to a life of ease.®® Effraim Zuroff,
Director of the SWC in Isracl, urged the Australians cithﬁ to prosecute Kalejs under the
Australian War Crimes Act or to deport him.®  Zuroff also met with the Latvian Ambassador to
Isracl 1o urge that he cooperate with the Australians in an endeavor to extradite Kalejs to Latvia.®

OS] had, in due course after Kalejs™ deportation, had him placed on the Watchlist. On
December 6, 1997, INS got a "hit" and stopped Kalejs at Los Angeles International Airport. He
had [lown from Melbourne and was en rowre to Mexico, He was sent back o Australia that day.

In June 1999, Zurodt advised OS1 that an investigator was working on a segment about

Magzis in Australia for the ABC newsmagazine 20/20. The investigator discovered that Kalejs
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had left Australia a year earlier. No one knew where he was now though Zuroff opined to ABC
that he had likely snuck into the United Siates to be with his companion. Director Rosenbaum
was very concerned that if he were in the US| the public would ~ unfairly — hold OSI
responsible for not preventing his reentry. (OS] is not responsible for border secunity. }

()51 asked INS to contact the Jocal mail carrier to determine if an elderly man was at the
Detroil residence and/or whether mail had been addressed to him. The answer to both was no.
An examination of his companion’s phone records showed one, and sometimes two or three calls
a day to Rugby, England. When ABC contacted Rosenbaum about its upcoming piece, he
supgested the reporters might find Kalejs in Rugby. They did. He was living under an assumed
name in & Latvian old age home.

OSI worked to keep the spotlight on Kalejs. Rosenbaum spoke with various members of
the British media and encouraged Lord Greville Janner, chair of Britain's Holocaust Education
Trust, to do the same.*® On December 29, British Home Secretary Jack Straw called for an
investigation into how Kalejs had been allowed into the country, The following month, he
ordered Kalejs deported because his presence was detnmental to "the public good.” Rather than
face a hearing, Kalejs returned to Australia.®

On January 26, 2000 the Latvian Minister of Justice came to the United States and met
with Director Rosenbaum.™ The discussion was very frank. Once the opening formalities were
aside, Rosenbaum posited, and the Minister conceded, that the Latvians had requested the
meeting in the wake of negative publicity about Kalejs. Rosenbaum voiced extreme
disappointment that the Latvians had not prosecuted anyone involved in persecution on behalf of

the Nazis. He reminded the Minister that although Arajs himself had been prosecuted by the
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Ciermans, none of Arjs’ three licutenants still alive, Kalejs and Ozols (both in Australia) and
Zvikeris (in Great Britain) had been prosecuted by the Latvians. Yet in the ten years since they
ohtained independence from the Soviet Union, the Latvians had prosecuted several Soviets
involved in anri-Nazi activities during World War [ Given those prosecutions, the Nazi cases
could not be "too old"” to pursue. Rosenbaum also contrasted the Latvians' inertia with that of
the Croats, who in 1999 convicted the commandant of a Nazi concentration camp of "systemic”
mass killings, torture and maltreatment of inmates.” Rosenbaum pointed out that this had been
"politically difficult” and "courageous," since it necessitated Croatia’s working with Serbia.

Rosenbaum warned the Minister that now was the "last chance” to erase the impression
that his country was intentionally delaying until all the Nazi defendants were either dead or too
incapacitated to prosecute. Rosenbaum also suggested that prosecution of Nazis would be
viewed "as a commitment to western values” — a not so subtle reference to Latvia’s desire to join
the European community,

The Minister blamed Latvian intransigence on years of operating under the Soviet
paradigm. He offered to host an international meeting to discuss the Kalejs case and Rosenbaum
agreed 1o send an OS] representative. Rosenbaum urged, however, that the meeting cover other
Latvian persecutors as well as Kalejs. Rosenbaum also offered a carrot to the Latvians: if they
knew of anvone in the United States who they believed was involved in crimes of persecution
during the early Soviet occupation of Latvia (1940-41), OSI would assist in the investigation.™

Four days after this meeting, Latvia 1ssued formal invitations to prosecutors from
Australia, Canada, Germany, the UK, Israel and the United States to meet in Riga on February

16-17, 2000. Principal Deputy Director Susan Siegal and historian Michael MacQueen, a
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[atvian speaker and O51's Chief of Investigative Research, represented the office. At the
Minister’s suggestion, they arrived two days before the international session began. They met
first with the Latvian Deputy Chief Prosecutor. According to MacQueen, "[t[he most charitable
and accurate manner of summarizing the meeting is to term it a hideous failure."™ The Latvians
claimed there was not sulficient evidence against Kalejs.

Siegal and MacQueen were particularly frustrated that Latvia denied having the original
Kalejs documents which OSI said it had forwarded vears earlier. Moreover, the Latvians had not
done any independent research within their own archives in preparation for this international
convacation.

The next day, Siegal and MacQueen, accompanied by U.S. Ambassador James Holmes,
met with the Latvian Prosecutor General to express their "distress over the unmitigated disaster
our two days of bilateral meetings had been." OS] complained about Latvia®s public stance that
there was "no evidence” against Kalejs and reiterated its offer to assist the Latvian government.
They 1old the Prosecutor General that “we felt insulted and abused by our experiences of the past
days.”

The international conference fared much better from OSI’s perspective than had the
preliminaries.” There was discussion of where additional archival material might be found and
051 offercd "the hands-on assistance of OS1's historical staff." The discussion even spilled over
into potential prosecutions other than Kalejs.

I3y the end of the conference there was some structure to the proposed investigation. The
participants had ranked the Kalejs evidence in terms of most likely avenues of success under

Latvian law;™ the Prosecutor General's office commitied to hinng a historian to work on the
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case: Latvian prosecutors planned to go to Britain to review material collected in a related
investipation; MacQueen agreed to return 1o Riga to assist Latvian investigators; Siegal promised
1o send case records from OS] prosecutions similar to Kaleys'; the Latvian Prosecutor General
agreed 1o contact his Russian counterpart and arrange for review of KGB files and other pertinent
material in Russian possession; the Israelis promised assistance in finding eyewitnesses; and all
partics agreed to reconvene in a few months (o review progress.

Expectations were still guarded however. As the American Embassy in Riga reported:

Meither we nor anvone else should be under the illusion that the road to the

extradition of Konrads Kalejs from Australia to Latvia nor his eventual

arraignment before a Latvian court will be straight or smooth. The deeply

entrenched Soviet era inclinations toward obstruction and evasion of forthright

prosecutions among working level prosecutors, their lack of experience or

competence in formulating sensitive cases of this nature, and their apparent

residual sympathies towards Latvians who fought the Russians, albeit under a

MNazi banner, foretell of numerous difficulties . .. 7

The international conference was scheduled to reconvene at the end of June. In May,
Latvia's Acting Prosecutor General announced that a trial was unlikely because no strong
evidence had been found.

John Withers, the Deputy in Charge of Mission (DCM) in Latvia, was a strong supporter
of O5I's quest to make Latvia more responsive to the Nazi war crimes issue.”™ Among other
things, he suggested some groundwork be done before the international meeting reconvened.
Specifically, he recommended having Ivars Kreivans, a former DOJ Resident Legal Advisor to
the Baltics, return to Latvia to discuss the legal 13sues with Latvian prosecutors. Siepal and

Rosenbaum agreed, proposing that he be accompanied by OS] attorney Steven Paskey who was

Familiar with details of the Kalejs case.™




Before Paskey and Krievans arrived, the State Department kept pressure on the Latvians,
Secretary of State Madeleine Albright spoke with the Lalvian president and "again reiterated that
it is imperative for Latvia to bring Nazi war criminals to justice; the Ambassador [Holmes] said
the same thing in his intial call on the new Latvian Prime Minister.," Withers assured OS] that:

[ W]e will press the Latvians 1o get to [the newly appointed Prosecutor General]

and have him issue a statement repudiating [the Acting Prosecutor General’s]

comments. . . . Second, as soon as we can make the appointment next week, the

Ambassador will sce him and lay out in no uncertain terms what’s at stake here. . .

. Third, we need to get Krievans and Paskey out here as soon as possible. It is

clear to me that the Latvians can’t or won't put together a case, so we'll have to

do it for them. . . . They still believe that this will somehow po away., We've got

to keep hammenng on them until they realize that it won’t. [ still think that as

long as we keep our grip tight and our nerves steady, we’re still on track.™

In early June, Knevens and Paskey spent ten intense days in Latvia meeting with the new
Frosecutor General and his Deputy as well as with the chief of the unit responsible for dealing
with crimes involving totalitanan regimes. They discussed the Kalejs evidence, international war
crimes laws and conventions, and the use of histonians as experts in war crimes prosecutions.

Al the close of the meetings, a joint statement 15sued by the United States and Latvia
stressed the cooperation and coordination between the two governments. Latvia reaffirmed its
commitment to investigate "actively and theroughly” all Nazi-sponsored war crimes.  Shortly
after the Americans left, the Procurator General announced that Latvia would request Kalejs'
extradition to stand trial for war crimes and genocide. The Latvians credited the Americans with
having played a crucial role in the decision to prosecute.™

The following month, Latvia sent a list of questions to Australia which they wanted the

authurities to pose to Kalejs. In addition, a Latvian prosecutor went to Moscow to examine

Kalejs-related documents.
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MacQueen, who had offered at the international conference to assist the Latvians, made
good on his promise. From August 20 to September 3, he worked with the Latvians in Riga on
Kalejs and related matters. MacQueen sensed that the Latvians were not fully commined to
indicting Kalejs and he so informed Ambassador Holmes.  In response, [Tolmes met with the
President, Foreign Minister and Procurator General to encourage them to go forward.

Fortuitously for OSI, at the same time that pressure (o proceed was emanating from the
United Siates, Russia too was beanng down on the Latvians. Russia protested Latvia’s
prosecution of partisans who aided Russia during World War 11 while Nazis like Kalejs were left
alone.™ Russia went so far as to threaten economic sanctions against its former Republic.

The Latvians of course were only one part of the equation. The Australians had to
extradite and there was some concern in this regard, In August 2000, Australia’s Justice Ministry
notified the Larvian Procurator General that it was difficult (o extradite for war crimes under
Australian law.* When the United States leamed about this, Ambassador Holmes urged the
Australians to send an extradition expert 1o the upcoming multilateral conference (part II) now

scheduled for mid-September. They agreed to do so.

Cutside events here too were working in OSI['s favor. Australia was scheduled to host the
International Clvmpics in Svdney from Sept. 15 - Oct. 1, 2000, They were therefore particularly
sensitive to negative press coverage. On the eve of the event, then-U.S. Senate candidate and
First Lady Hillary Clinton urged the Australian government to help bring Kalejs to justice. Her
letter drew banner headlines.”

On September 28 (shortly after the second - and largely collegial - international

conference concluded), the Latvians indicted Kaleps.  Sull O8I did not rest, learing that Kalejs
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would flee unless an extradition request were on file. OS] prodded the State Department to urge
the Australians to send Latvia a formal request for a warrant, A few days later, Latvia announced
it would seek both an arrest warrant and extradition. The arrest warrant was issued in November
and a formal extradition request soon followed. Kalejs was arrested in Melbourne, Australia on
December 13, 2000,

He attended his deportation hearings in a wheelchair but did not actively participate. His
attorneys advised the court that he was suffering from dementia and prostate cancer.
On May 29, 2001 an Australian magistrate ordered his deportation. The ruling was on appeal

when he died on November 8, 2001.
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The Commonwealth Nations

While (OS] has offered assistance to every forelgn country willing to prosecute Nazi war
criminals, it has coordinated most closely with prosecutors in Canada, Great Britain and
Auvstralia. [n 1989, OS] hosted a meeting with representatives of cach of these countries and a
delegation from the Sovict Union.  The outcome of that meeting was that the Soviet Union
apreed to allow each of the participating countries to share with the others copies of matenal
received from the Soviet archives as a result of Mazi war cnmes inquiries. Original documents
cannot be shared, however, and each western country still needs to obtain its own centified copies
of the documents for use in court proceedings.! MNonetheless, the agreement — which still
operates in the post-Soviet era - reduced significantly in many cases the amount of time needed
to obtain pertinent matenal.

Canada

Shortly after OSI's founding, Canadian officials met with Director Ryan to discuss
establishing an office similar to OSL? In 1982, before any action was taken on the proposal, the
Canadians arrested and extradited a naturalized Canadian citizen to West Germany to face
charges of having murdered thousands of Lithuanian Jews.” OS] was working on ils own
investigations of Lithuanian massacres at the time, and OS] and the Canadians shared
information.

It was not until 1985, however, that the proposal for a separate prosecutorial office for
Nizi war crime cases gained momentum. The impetus lor this was an SWC report that Dr.
Mengele might be in Canada. The publicity surrounding this announcement led the Canadians o

appoint a commission 1o determine whether there were Nazi war criminals in the country who
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could be prosecuted, extradited or deported.”  Although the commission found no evidence that
Mengele had emigrated to Canada, it believed other war criminals might have. It therefore
recommended laws providing for criminal prosecution as well as denaturalization and/or
deportation of persons involved in the wartime persecution of eivilians.” Canada enacted such
statutes in 1987.°

Over the next five years, the government filed four criminal cases. Three were aborted
before verdiet;” the fourth defendant was acquitted afier an eight month trial. Upholding the
acquittal on appeal, the Canadian high court ruled that a defendant could refute the allegations by
establishing that he was merely “following orders” (unless the order was “manifestly illegal.”) In
addition, he could not be convicted unless it was proven that he knew his activities constituted a
war crime and that they would have been a crime in Canada.® Because this ruling substantially
increased the difficulty of establishing the povemment’s case, the Canadians abandoned criminal
prosecution in favor of denaturalization and deportation cases, similar to those prosecuted by
0SL? Unlike the U.S. procedure, however, a final determination on denaturalization is not made

by the court. Rather, the Cabinet considers the matier afier a court rules that there is a legal basis

{or action.

In 1997, the Canadian povernment hired former OS] Director Neal Sher as a consultant
on 118 war crimes prosecutions. He worked with the Canadians until March 2001, Sher is
credited by some with having helped bring about a significant increase in Canadian case filings."

The Canadians have filed twenty-three denaturalization/deportation cases to date.
However, only one defendant has been deported. In 1992, he was sent 1o the Netherlands where

he was imprisoned pursuant to a life sentence imposed in absenria in 1948, He was released
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after twenty-eight months due to his advanced age."

O8I played a role in five Canadian cases. Two were against former QS defendants,
Arthur Rudolph and Konrad Kalejs. As discussed earlicr, OSI provided material used by the
Canadians to win judgments forcing both men to leave the country.”

Twao other cases were brought to the attention of the Canadian authorities by OS] when
the men were stopped by TNS after a Watchlist hit. One had been changing planes in Detroit on
hisz way back to Canada from a trip abroad; the other was stopped by INS during a pre-flight
inspection in Vancouver as he was about to board a plane for the U.S. The Canadian courts
dismissed charges against one of the men" and revoked the citizenship of the other."

The fifth case concerned a defendant who fled to the United States after the Canadians
filed a denaturalization action. As described elsewhere in this report, he was returned to Canada
by OSI and his citizenship was revoked in 2001." Deportation proceedings were halted in 2004
for investigation of the defendant’s ¢laim that his denaturalization had been tainted by a conflict
of interest,” The Canadian Federal Court restored his citizenship shortly thereafier. The court
did so both because of the defendant’s “50 vears of irreproachable life in Canada” and because
there was no evidence that he had personally participated in war crimes. (He served as an
interpreter assigned to a mobile killing unit in Ukraine )"

OS5I has worked well over the years with the Canadian Justice Depantment. They have
shared informalion and assisted one another on interviews and other matters. OS] has had less
success with the Roval Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP). which has ofien been reluctant to
share information,'*

In early 2003, the Canadian government returned in Kind the assistance OS] had provided
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to the Canadians 25 yvears earhier. With O5['s mandate just expanded to cover “modem war
criminals,™ the office was struggling to determine how to develop and handle a new and
potentially cnormous investigative caseload. Five vears earlier, the Canadians had also expanded
their mandate.™ OSI Dircetor Rosenbaum and Deputy Director and Chief Historian Elizabeth
White spent several days in January 2005 meeting with officials of the Canadian Border Services
Agency. The Canadians shared their experiences and provided OS] with a database of
information.
Australia

Ausiralia’s anitude toward Nazi persecutors has been ambivalent. In 1961, Australia’s
Atomey General and Acting Minister for External Affairs addressed the Parliament on his
government’s denial of an extradition request from the Soviet Union for an alleged Nazi war

criminal. He described conflicting considerations.

On the one hand, there is the utter abhorrence felt by Australians for those

offenses against humanity to which we give the generic name of war crimes. On

the other hand, there is the right of this nation, by receiving people into its

country, to enable men to turn their backs on past bitternesses and o make a new

life for themselves and for their families in a happier community.
Believing the second factor 1o be weightier, he announced that “the time has come to close the
chapter.™

It remained closed until 1986. That yvear Australian television ran a series (based on
rescarch by two Australians and a former O8I attomey) called “Nazis in Australia.” This seres,
as well as another program aired that vear, sugpested that there were numerous Mazi war

criminals in the country, and that they had been able to enter because American and British

intelligence agencies had either deceived Australian officials or intentionally withheld relevant
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information sbout the men.™

In response to these allepations, the government called for a comprehensive review of the
matter. The resulting report, concluding that there were likely a significant number of war
criminals in Australia, led to establishment of a Special Investigations Unit (SI1U) in 1987, Its
staff was composed of lawyers, investigators and police - but no historians. The country’s War
Crimes Act was amended the following year to allow criminal prosecution for war crimes
committed during World War [I. A conviction subjects the defendant to possible incarceration
but not deportation.

Over the vears, OS] forwarded to the SIU the names of six persons OS] believed to be in
Australia and worthy of investigation. Five were never located; the Australians had insufficient
evidence lo prosecute the sixth.”® The SIU did, however, file three other cases, though only one
was tried to conclusion. The jury acquitted in less than an hour, after the judge opined that the
charges might have been better defended had they been more timely filed.** The other two
filings were dismissed, one because several key witnesses had died, and the other because the
defendant had suffered a heart attack from which he was not expected to recover. He died seven
vears later.

To help the Australians determine whether suspected persecutors were already in the
country and to preclude the entry of persecutors seeking admission, O8] in 1989 sent the
Australian povernment a list of approximately 30,000 names. These were culled from the OSI
rescarch and development database as well as its list of persons rejected for entry into the United
States under the DPA.  Contrary 1o OSI's hope, the Australians did not use the material as the

starting point for their own research and development system.™
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The SIU was dishanded in 1992, apparently due 1o budgetary constraints.”® Al the time,
there were 27 investigations still under way, at least one of which was “exiremely promising,”
according to the former head of the unit.” Afier the unit closed, the Australians shared with OS]
some material from their archived Nles. A roster so obtained led to one OSI prosecution,™

In 1999, OSI Director Rosenbaum created a furor in Australia when he stated during a
television interview that “Any Nazi criminal who lives in Australia, and there must be hundreds
there, knows he is home free, so o spﬁ:&k.""” Australia’s Justice Minister found the accusation
offensive. “Nobody in Australia wants war criminals to sleep here comfortably, but equally no
one wants the Australian government to engage in show trials.™ Just weeks after the broadcast,
Konrad Kalejs, a naturalized Australian citizen, returmed to his adopted country to avoid facing a
deportation hearing in England.” Under the terms of Australia’s citizenship laws, his naturalized
citizenship could not be revoked.” Ile could, however, be extradited. As discussed elsewhere in
this report, Australia ultimately did order his extradition in the face of intense international
pressure to do s0.” Kalejs died in Australia while the order was on appeal ™

In 2001, the Australians accepted Director Rosenbaum's offer of an updated listing of
names on the U5, Watchlist.” To date, they have not used those names to establish a Watchlist
of their own nor have any prosecutions been filed since the SIU was disbanded. Moroever, they
have denied OS] the right to interview witnesses in Australia, on the ground that the mutual
assistance treaty between the U.S, and Australia covers assistance only in criminal cases.™ In
2003 and 2004, the SWC, reviewing the efforts of countries worldwide to investigate and
prosecute Nazi war cniminals, placed Australia among a group of nations which “made at least a

minimal cifort o investigate Nazi war criminals but which failed to achieve any practical results
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or . . . in which the issue had no practical dimension during the period under review.™” The
SWC attributed this to “a lack of the requisite political will,™ The 2005 report is more positive.
[t places Australia among those nations which Failed to obtain any convictions or lile an
indictnent, but have nevertheless “either advanced ongoing cases currently in litigation or have
opened new investigations which have serious potential for prosecution.” That assessment is
apparently due to Australia’s approval of a Hungarian request for extradition of Charles Zendai, a
naturalized Australian citizen involved in the murder of a Jewish teenager in Budapest in 1944.%
At the request of the SWC, OS] provided the Australian government with documents located at
the Mational Archives concerning Hungary's postwar request to U.S. occupation authorities for
Zendai's extradition.
Great Brtain

[n 1988, the British government appointed a committee to examine well-publicized
allegations, from the SWC and a Scottish television show, that there were Nazis responsible for
wartime atrocities living in the United Kingdom.*™ The committee concluded that there was a
basis for the allegations and recommended legislation authorizing criminal prosecution. The
resulting 1991 War Crimes Act allowed for trial of British citizens and UK. residents on charges
of murder and homicide commutted between 1933 and 19435 in Germany and German-occupied
territory. However, the government must prove the defendant’s personal responsibility and
present evewitness testimony, Scotland Yard established a War Crimes Unit which, at its peak,
vmploved 11 police officers, two historians and support statf.

In 1988, OS5I historians. doing research in West German archives, came across several

documents incriminating a former Latvian Arajs Kommando officer who, according to an OS5l
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source, had settled in England. The British opened an investigation after receiving the
documents and information from OSL*" However, the subject died before the investipation was
completed.”

The British did file two cases, the first of which was brought to their attention by OSI. It
was dismissed, however, after a jury found the defendant mentally unfit to stand trial.* The
second was prosecuted, and in 1999 the defendant was sentenced to two life terms for gunning
down 18 Jews in Belarus.® Shortly after he was convicted, the British investigative unit was
scaled down and then disbanded for lack of additional viable cases. The law, however, remains
on the books and there have been several related inquines, all of which have involved OS] to
some extent.

As detailed elsewhere,” in 1999 a television reporter, acting on a tip from QS Director
Rosenbaum, located Konrad Kalejs in Rugby, England. The story received worldwide publicity
and the British government ¢came under considerable cnticism for allowing Kalejs to leave the
country without prosecution.*® Some of that criticism came from OS1.Y

In the wake of the Kalejs affair, a British newspaper reminded its readers that Alexander
Schweidler, earlier prosecuted by OS] and deported to England, was still in the country.*
Schweidler, by his own admission, had murdered two Russian prisoners of war at the
Mauthausen concentration camp. Four days afier the story surfaced, Schweidler died of a heart
attack.

Just as the Kalejs affair awakened British interest in Schweidler, Schweidler's death
renewed Scottish interest in a Nazi persecutor in their midst.” Antanas Gecas first came to the

attention of the Scots when OS] Director Sher interviewed him in 1982 in connection with an
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(151 investigation of someone in Geeas' unit. In 1987, he gained local notoriety when a Scottish
television show charged that he had commanded a platoon which had massacred Jews and Soviet
citizens in Lithuania and Belarus. Gecas sued the station for libel. Tn ruling against him. a
Scottish judge said he was “clearly satislied™ that Gecas had taken part in atrocities, including the
slaughter of more than 1,000 civilians over two days.™ Despite this finding, the government
concluded that there was not sufficient evidence 10 sustain a criminal prosecution.™

Lithuania, however, was willing 10 consider the matter. The Department of Justice,
responding 1o a request for assistance [rom Lithuania's Prosecutor General, sent an OS] attorney
and an historian to Lithuania to help them assess this case and others on their docket. OSI's team
made various suggestions to modify a proposed Gecas indictment.® Lithuania requested his
extradition but Gecas died in Scotland before the proceedings were complete.™

Lastly, in 2003, a British television producer, checking names from rosters which OS1
had used in court proceedings and forwarded to him at his request, made a “hit.” He discovered
in England a concentration camp guard who allegedly had participated in the liquidation of both
the Warsaw and Bialystok ghettos. In response to the publicity generated by this story, the
British government agreed 1o investigate the case.® OSI forwarded copies of several pertinent
German documenis as well as an historian’s report used in a related case.  In April 2003, two
detectives from the Anti-Terrorist Branch of Scotland Yard came to OS] to discuss the case.
They met with several historians in the office as well as with OS0's director and former chief
bstorian, now working at the U5, Holocaust Memorial Museum.  Whether charges would have
been filed will never be known; the subject died 1n a car accidemt before a prosecutonal

determination had been made. ™
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In 2003, Scotland Yard bepan a search for survivors of one 55 unit, many of whose
members had setiled in England. Approximately 7,100 Ukrainians serving in the unit had gone
to Britain in 1947 afier spending two years as prisoners of war; 1.200 of the men were still alive
when the British began their search.™ OSI was not optimistic that the investigations would be
productive because OSI had never found any “credible/usable evidence . . . persuasively hinking
the . . . Division to the perpetration of nazi crimes.”™  As of this writing, no cases have been
filed.

However, a new avenue of case development may be in the offing. After years of
rejecting OSI's offer to share its Watchlist, in June 2005 UK officials told Director Rosenbaum

they would be interested in obtaining the information for use in the research and development of

cases,”
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with genocide, crimes against humamty and war crimes for his role in the 1994 genocide in
Rwanda; he had been denied refugee status in 2000, *Accused Hutu Appears in Court,” by Bill
Curry and Tu Thanh Ha, The Globe and Mail (Toronte), Oct. 20, 2005,

21. Report of the Investigations of War Criminals in Australia, Attorney-General’s Department,
Australian Gov't Publishing Service, 1993, p. 215,

22, I, p. 14.
23, Md., pp.490-493.

24, “Jews in Australia Upset by Acquittal in 1942 War Crimes,” by Bob Drogin, The Los
Angeles Times, May 23, 1993, “First War Crimes Trial in Australia Ends in Acquittal,™ The
Toronte Star, May 18, 1993,
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25. Barry Turner, Counsellor (Police Liaison) and Barry Welsby, Counsellor (Immigration}, both
of the Australian Embassy, conceded as much, at an Aug. 1, 2000 meeting at (OS],

26. “Accused Nazi Too Costly to Pursue,” by J. Swanwick, The Courier-Mail (Queensland,
Australia), Dec. &, 1997.

27. “Living with Demons from the Past,” by Kay Dibben, Sunday Mail (Queensland), Jan, 9,
2000; “Call for Team to Track Down Kalejs Evidence,” The Age (Meltbourne), Jan. 11, 2000,
The most promising case concerned Karlens Ozols, commander of a Latvian unit which
murdered thousands of Jews at killing pits outside Minsk, Belarus. Ozols, who became an
Australian chess champion, died in March 2001.

28. O8I filed the case in January 2002, Pursuam to standard Justice Diepartment procedure, the
defendant had been advised ten days before that the case would be filed. After receiving this
notification, the defendant, Peter Bernes, returned to his native Lithuania. The U.S. court entered
a default judgment, revoking his citizenship, in May 2002.

29.  ABC newsmagazne 20-20, Dec. 3, 1999, This program is discussed also at pp. 468-469.
30. *Australia’s Nazi-Hunting Defended,” The Jerusalem Post, Jan. 10, 2000.

31. Seep. 469. Asked if Kalejs would be welcome in Australia, the Justice Minister responded,
“Would you expect a situation where any Australian citizen would not be?” “Nazi Suspect
Would be Allowed to Settle in Australia,” Agence France-Presse, Jan, 3, 2000,

32, The Australian Citizenship Act of 1948 included a ten-year statute of limitations on the
revocation of nationality. Kalejs, who became a naturalized Australian citizen in 1957, could not
be denaturalized when evidence of his warlime activities was developed by OS] in the 1980s.
Although Australia ultimately eliminated the 10-year provision in the late 1990s, a grandfather
clause protected those who, like Kalejs, had passed the ten-year mark before the amendment.

33, See pp. 474-473.

34, The Los Angeles Times referred to Kalejs as “the poster child for Australian tolerance of
suspecied Nazi war criminals.” “Nazis Find an Aussie Sanctuary,” by Richard Paddock, Jan. 10,
2001.

35, Apr. 5, 2000 letter from Rosenbaum to Barry Welsby, Counsellor (Immigration), Australian
Embassy.

36. May 3, 2000 letter to Department ol Justice Senior Tnal Artomey Betsy Burke, Otfice of
Inmemational Aftairs, from Shannon Cuthbenson, Attorney General’s Depariment, International
Branch. As discussed earlier, the Germans, faced with the same legal issue, adopted a much
more flexible approach. See p. 425.
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37. SWC 2003 and 2004 Annual Reports, “Worldwide Investigation and Prosecution of Nazi
War Criminals.”

38. SWC Press Release #1884, Apr. 27, 2003.
39, “War Crime Accused’s Warrant Unearthed,” by Paipe Tavlor, The Ausirafian, June 9, 2005.

40. “Inquiry into ‘Britain’s Nazi Criminals:” Senior Prosecutors May Recommend Atrocity
Trials in the UK, by Philip Webster, The Times (London), Feb. 9, 1988.

41. May 23, 1988 memorandum to United Kingdom®s War Crimes Inquiry, re “Harijs Svikeris.”
See also, statement by Rosenbaum in “Straw Demands Inquiry into How Alleged Nazi War
Criminal Entered UK,” by Linus Gregoriadis, The Guardian (London}, Dec. 30, 1999,

OSI historians found the subject’s name on a list of persons in the Arajs Kommando who
had received weapons permits. The same lists led OS] to two people in the 1.8, who the office
later prosecuted (Valdis Didrichsons and Edgars Inde).

42, “War Crimes Suspect Dies During Inquiry,” by Stephen Ward, The Independent (London),
Aug, 8, 1995,

43. “Criminal Waste of our £14m,” by lan Gallagher, The Express (London), Jan. 18, 1997, The
defendant, Semion Serafirmovich, had been brought to the attention of British authorities by OS1
in the early 1980s. However, the British were unable to locate him at that time, apparently due to
a variance in the transliteration of his name from Cyrillic, Jan. 28, 2003 ¢-mail from Rosenbaum

to Judy Feigin, re “Assistance to Umted Kingdom Authonties.”

In order to assist the British prosecutors, OSI promised a subject in the United States that
they would not seek to denaturalize or deport him if he cooperated in the investigation of
Serafirmovich, He was an essential witness for the British but had been reluctant to cooperate.
(OS5I surmised that his reluctance stemmed from fear that the U.S. would seek to denaturalize and
deport him because of information he might reveal about his own wartime activities., OS]
assessed its prospects of developing enough evidence against him as “quite slim,” whereas
Serafirmovich was “a major perpetrator of Nazi crimes, including mass murder.” Moreover,
since it was Brtain's first war crimes trial, OS] worried that “the entire British effort to
investigate and prosecute Mazi criminals”™ might depend on this prosecution being successful.
Oct. 6, 1995 memo to DAAG Richard from Rosenbaum re “Proposed OSI Immunity to Wolczek
(OS] #528) for His Cooperation in British Prosecution of Serafimovich.” After receiving
assurances from OS], the subject did cooperate fully with the Britsh,

44, “Justice .. . 57 Years Too Late,” by Don Mackay, Sconish Daily Record & Sunday Mail,
Apr. 2, 1999. The defendant died in prison in 2005. “War Criminal Jailed in Britain Dies at 84,
by Owen Bowceott, The Guardian (London), Nov. 8, 2005.

45. See pp. 468-469.
46. See, e g.. 1 Can Still Call Australia Home,” The Svdney Morning Herald, Jan, 8, 2000,
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47. Director Rosenbaum accused the British of [ailing to investigate Kalejs. “Luropean Nations
Shirking War Crimes Duties,” by llsa Colson, A4FP Newsfeed, Mar. 6, 2000, He made clear that
the Department of Justice had given the British pertinent information about the case. “Straw
Demands Inguiry into How Alleged Nazi War Criminal Entered UK,” by Linus Gregoriadis, The
Guardian (LLondon), Dec, 30, 1999,

48. “Nazi War Criminal, Expelled from US, 15 Living in UK,” The Guardian (London), Jan, 20,
2000,

49, “Time Running Out to Prosecute Gecas, Says War Crimes Investigator,” The Herald
(Glasgow), Jan. 26, 2000,

30, “Defamation Verdict Clears Way for War Crimes Trials,” by James Grylls, Daily Mail
(London), July 18, 1992,

51. *War Crimes Trial Ends in Pounds 5m Fiasco,” by lan Dow, Scottish Daily Record and
Sunday Mail, Jan. 18, 1997,

52. Jan. 24, 2001 memo from OS] attorney Jeffrey Menkin and Chief of Investigative Research
Michael MacQueen to Director Rosenbaum re. “Meetings in Vilnius with Lithuanaian War
Crimes Prosecutors (January 8-17, 2001)."

53. “Anger as Nazi Gecas Dies Without Tnal,” by Frank O’ Donnell and Kizzy Taylor, The
Scofsman, Sept. 13, 2001,

54. “*Wimbledon Academic’ in Mazi War Crimes Inquiry,” by Daniel Foggo, The Sunday
Telegraph (London), Feb. 9, 2003; “London Man Denies Role in 88 Massacres,” by Daniel
Foggo, The Sunday Telegraph (London), Jan. 26, 2003.

535. “Former S5 Guard Killed in Crash,” The Sunday Telegraph (London), Aug. 1, 2004,

56, “Police to Use NHS Records to Find Mazi War Criminals,” by Daniel Foggo, The London
Telegraph, June 22, 2003,

57, June 22, 2003 e-mail from Director Rosenbaum to OS] Siaff re “Telegraph Reports That Uk
is Launching Major Probe of Nazi Collaborators.”

58. That the offer had been previously rejected is evident from a Jan, 27, 2003 ¢-mail from
Director Rosenbaum to Fiona Ferguson in the British Home Office re “Deportation Action
Commenced Against V. Gecas.” See afse, “Straw Considering UK Entrv Ban on Suspecied Nazi
War Criminals,” by B. Josephs, The Jewish Chronicle, May 31, 2000,
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Japan

From the carly 1930s until the end of World War I1, Japan persecuted civilians in a
variety of ways. Among them: (1) the Japanese [mperial Army kidnaped approximately 200,000
girls (most of whom were [rom Korea) and imprisoned them in so-called “comfort stations,”
where they were forced to serve as prostitutes to the military; (2) conguering Japanese armies
brutally slaughtered civilians in their wake; (3) non-Japanese were used as slave laborers by
Japanese conglomerates; and (4) non-Japanese prisoners were unwillingly made subjects of
gruesome and often lethal medical experiments by the Imperial Ammy.!

0Sl, as the SLU before it, was created to investigate and prosecute persons who, in
association with the Nazi povernment or its allies, ordered, incited, assisled or somehow
participated in the persecution of any person because of race, religion, national origin or political
vpinion, Despite this broad mandate, neither the SLU, nor OS] at its founding, gave any thought
to investigating or prosecuting Japanese perpetrators who might be in the United States.’

There were many reasons for this, perhaps the most important being that nothing
indicated that a large number of Japanese persecutors ever came to the United States. Operation
Paperclip had no counterpant for Japanese scientists, Nor was there a DPA or RRA allowing an
extraordinary number of immigrants from Japan to enter.

Furthermore, Japan’s victims were not calling for prosecutions. This may be due 1o the
fact that many were culturally reticent 1o speak out. The shame of victimization, especially
among the women who had been raped, beaten and tortured, was acute. Many were shunned
even by their families at war’s end.

Even if the victims had been calling for action, however, their demands could not have
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been easily met. The most serious impediment was the United States’ inability to determine the
numes of Japanese persecutors.  In August 1943, the Japanese Imperial Army and Navy ordered
the destruction of incriminating or sensilive documents by field and headquarters units; in
response, as much as 70% of wartime military and povernment records were likely purged. The
United States retrieved what it could (approximately 18,000,000 pages).” However, the
Japanese pressed for return of these documents and the United States acceded. Maost of the
material was retumed in 1958, although some was as late as 1962, Before the retumn, a group of
private scholars arranged for the microfilming of a portion of the records by the Library of
Congress under a grant from the Ford Foundation. Due to time and financial limitations,
however, only about 3 per cent of the available documents were copied. The United States made
no provision for future access 1o the returned records.*

Neither OSI nor the National Archives has fully reviewed the records the U.S. does have.*
Although belated efforts are being made to do so, OS] also wants access to the material in Japan.
This will provide more names of those who served in units known to have committed
persecutory acts. OSI can then compare those names with INS records of those who came to the
United States, just as it does with Nazi persecutors.  Even if no Japanese persecutors scttled in
the United States (an unlikely possibility), some may have visited at one time or another. (5]
wants 1o place the names of all those who served in units involved in persecution on the
Watchlist to prevent their entering even on a short-term basis.

(S has been stymied in this effort by Japan's unwillingness to grant access to their files
or to provide relevant information. This is based on privacy concemns as well as Japan’s view

that it has no right to place “ordinary citizens™ at “‘a disadvantage by providing information about
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them to foreign governments.®  Accordingly, Japan has consistently refused to release the names
of persons in particular units; they have also refused to provide date and place of birth
information for persons who the United States has independently determined were involved in
aets of persecution. The United States has been granted access only 1o the public archives,
According to a rescarcher hired by the Interagency Working Group (on which the Director of OSI
sits as a public member), the documents relating to war crimes are not accessible,’

The effect of these strictures on OS1's work is dramatic. Tens of thousands of possible
persecutors from the war in Europe have been placed on the Waichlist,” yet as of this writing,
only 31 Japanese are listed. Their names were added in 1996.° Twenty of those listed were from
Unit 731, an Imperial Armny biological warfare unit that conducted gruesome wartime
cxperiments on prisoners of war, most of whom were Chinese, Two worked at a camp which
transferred inmates to Unit 731 for punishment, and three were involved in the establishment,
operation or utilization of comfort stations. One was connecied to both comfort stations and Unit
731.

Due to Japan's sensitivity on the war crimes issue, OS], at the State Department’s
suggestion, gave the Japanese government the names of the men — something that 15 not typically
done for Watchlist entries. The alleged persecutors, forewarned about their listing, can now
avold travel to the United States. This eliminates the public embarrassment attendant on being
stopped by the authorities — something the Japanese indicated was a matter of particular concern.
Although the Japanese offered to release more birthdate and place information in return for this

notice, to date they have not done so.

In further deference to Japan's sensitivity about alleged war crimes, the Justice
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Department worked closely with the State Departiment about whether, and how, to announce the
new Watchlist entnes. The State Departiment was concerned that public disclosure might
embarrass the Japanese government. OS] argued that failure to issue a press release would
reward the Japanese for not confronting their past. Moreover, it would unfairly disciminate
against the Germans whose crimes were routinely highlighted in press releases about OSI's
activities. Tangentially, OS5I also believed that recopnition of rape as a crime warranting
inclusion on the Watchlist might bolster the Bosnia war crimes tribunal in the Hague, then
proceeding with the first war crimes trial for rape."” Ultimately, the State Department agreed that
a statement could be issued, though they toned down considerably the draft originally prepared
by OS81. The press release references “inhumane and frequently lethal pseudo-medical
experiments — including vivisection” as well as the beating, torture and rape of women.
However, it omitted some of the hormrific and graphic details which OS] wanted to include."

In 1998, a coalition of Asian-American human rights proups sought to bring 1o the United
States two men who had been involved in persecution of civilians on behalf of the Japanese.
One worked in Unit 731; the other admitted raping and murdering Chinese women during
Japan's 1937 invasion of Nanking. The visitors were to speak at a conference on war crimes
where they intended to explain their wantime activities and to apologize for the work they had
done. The goal of the conference was to build pressure on the Japanese government 10 make
formal apologies to 115 war victims and to pay reparations.

Ironically, it was through media coverage of the event that OS] got sulficient background
information about the two speakers 1o have their names added to the Watchlist. The men

requested that the Attorney General, in the exercise of her discretion, allow them into the country
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despite the Watchlist entry.”

Doth OS] and DOJ's Violence Against Women Office recommended against making a
discretionary exception. The Acting AAG agreed.”  Although commending the Japanese for
their willingness “in the fuce of considerable public disapproval in Japan, to testify about crimes
committed by the Japanese Army.” he noted that neither man had been prosecuted nor brought to
justice. Moreover, the United States had previously denied Nazi persecution suspects entry
despite humanitarian bases for their requests, e g., medical care and family visitations. There

were also polinical considerations.

Allowing the two Japanese suspects to enter the United States would set a
precedent that might be difficult to limit. Furthermore, should [they] be permitted
to enter the United States, the media attention that they can be expected to attract
might elieil a request from the Chinese Government that the United States
surrender the men for tnal in China or a demand that the United States try the
individuals. Since the U.S. has no extradition treaty with China and there is no
stutule that would confer eriminal jurisdiction on U.S. courts, the U.S. would
likely be powerless to do anything but permit the men to return to Japan where
there is no appreciable likelihood of prosecution. This could prove particularly
awkward, all the more so because the visit of the two suspects would be occurring
during a scheduled visit to China by the President. A LLS. grant of permission for
the two men to enter this country would look worse still if Ottawa, as expected,
bars them from entering Canada. On balance, this would seem to be a situation
tatlor-made for utilization of satellite technology or other electronic means that
would enable the men to interact with domestic media without physically entering
the United States.

While the Attorney General was sull considening the issue, one of the men flew to the
United States. INS matched his name to the Watchlist and he was sent back to Japan. The
Attorney General declined (o intervene.

Public opinion was divided on use of the Watchlist to deter a penitent from entering.

Many felt if ever an exception should be made 1o Watchlist exclusion, this was the time." OS]
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Director Rosenbaum acknowledged that the applicants” intention to apologize and 1o explain
whit they had done was laudable. Nonetheless, he feared that their admission would open the
floodgates to World War II persecutors who suddenly claimed to be remorseful.

Is the Government supposed to evaluate their sincerity? What happens if

they come here and refuse to leave, or fall ill and we can’t remove them? And |

wonder whether people are prepared for the spectacle on their evening news of

MNazi and Japanese war ¢riminals dining at the best restaurants in Manhattan and

Los Angeles. 1 doubt it.'*

In tjn: end, the Japanese participated in the symposium via videpconferencing provided by the
SWC." It may well be that the act of exclusion garnered more press for the issue than would
have been the case had the men been allowed to enter,

With approval from the Department, Director Rosenbaum has spoken out about Japan’s
intransigence'’ and has taken up the issue of the comfort women. As Rosenbaum notes, the
story of these women “has everything — sex, violence, children,” and yet it has not caught hold of
the public’s imagination. He has met and corresponded with representatives for the women. He
also helped arrange, and presented the opening remarks at, a symposium on comfort women
sponsored by the U.S, Holocaust Memorial Museum in September 2000. He spoke as well at a
ceremony on Capitol Hill sponsored by the Washington Coalition for Comfort Women [ssues in
honor of len surviving victims.

By allowing OSI to take up this issue, the Department of Justice has reconfirmed the
broad scope of OS51's mission. To the extent that some justice or remuneration to World War 11
vietims may result — even if it is by governments other than our own — OSI does all it can to

assist. The comfort women svmposium, intended to educate the public as well as to bring

pressure on the Japanese government to acknowledge its responsibility to make reparations, was
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i perfect forum for OSI 1o pursue the public education and extraterritorial components of its

mandate.
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I. See e.g., UL.N. Economic and Social Council, Comm. on Human Rights, Sub-Comm. on
Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities, “Systemalic rape, sexual slavery and
slavery-like practices during armed conflict” (June 1998) for information on comfort women; Iris
Chang, The Rape of Nanking (New York, Basic Books, 1997) for discussion of slaughtered
civilians; “Fund for Wartime Slaves Set up in Japan,” by Stephanie Strom, The New York Times,
Nov. 30, 2000 and “Lawvers Target Japanese Abuses,” by Michael Dobbs, The Washington Post,
Mar, 5, 2000 for discussion of corporate exploitation; and “Japan Keeps Stonewalling on WWII
Bio-Research Atrocities,” by B. Blumenthal and I. Miller, The New York Times, Mar. 7, 1999 for
discussion of medical experiments.

2. Recorded interviews with David Crosland (Apr. 10, 2001), INS General Counsel during the
SLU era; Allan Ryan (Oct. 6, 20009, OSI Director 1981-1983; Walter Rockler (May 10, 2000),
(81 Director May 1979-March 1980; Robin Boylan (Sept. 27, 2000), an SLU attomey who
transitioned to OSI; Art Sinai (Oct. 1, 2001), Deputy Director of OSI from 1979-1981. Accord,
Apr. 2000 discussion with DAAG Richard.

3. This figure includes many documents that pre-date World War 1.

4. Sept. 6, 2001 Report to the Interagency Working Group (IWG) of Marc Susser, Historian of
the Department of State, re “The Disposition of Captured World War II-Era Japanese Records,
1945-1962; Apr. 20, 2000 “Brief Survey of the Disposition of Captured Japanese Records 194 5-
1962" by Greg Bradsher, Mational Archives and Records Administration. According to
Bradsher, the failure to provide access was probably an oversight; the agencies had intended
otherwise,

5, InQct., 2002, NARA historian Greg Bradsher disclosed at an I'WG meeting that he had just
discovered 4 boxes contaiming Japanese war criminal wanted lists prepared by various foreign
governments, Some of the listings had date of birth information. Oct. 25, 2002 ¢-mail from
Rosenbaum re “Leads for OSI's Japanese Project from Today's IWG Meetings.”

6. Statement of Kazuhiro Fujimura, spokesman for the Japanese Embassy in Washington, [.C.
as quoted in The Washingion Post, “Lawyers Target Japanese Abuses,” by Michael Dobbs,
March 5, 2000. An alternative cultural explanation was offered to OSI by an FBI language
specialist. He opined that in the Japanese culture everyone is responsible and therefore no one is
responsible. Evervone repents and one therefore cannot point to any one person for inclusion on
the Watchlist. Accord, Nov. 30, 1999 letter from Japanese Ambassador Shunji Yanai to Rep.

Tom Lantos.

7. Statement of Naotaka lTkeda at IWG meeting of June 6, 2002, In 2001, OS] offered 1o share
with the State Department the cost of hiring a researcher to survey the publicly available records
in Japan. Ulumately, however, the State Department bore the entire cost in connectton with the
IWG s Disclosure Act implementation effort.

8. See p. 297
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9. OSI had been working on the matter for a while. It helped that in 1996 OSI had its first (and
to this date still the only} Japanese speaker in the office. He was a summer intern.

10. May 14, 1996 Memorandum to DAAG Richard from Director Rosenbaum re “Barring the
Entry of World War Il-Era Japanese War Criminals (“Unit 731" Medical Aftrocities; Mass Rape
Cases.)”

11. Oet. 11, 1996 memorandum o DAAG Richard from Director Rosenbaum re “Exclusion of
Suspected World War Il Japanese War Criminals: Recommendation to Accept State Department
Changes to Draft DOJ Press Release;” Dec. 3, 1996 DOJ Press Release, “Suspected Japanese
War Criminals Placed on *Watch List’ of Excludable Aliens.”

12. The Attorney General can allow in any alien “for reasons deemed strictly in the public
interest.”

13. June 10, 1998 memorandum from John C. Keeney, Acting AAG to the Deputy Attorney
General re “Planned Visit of World War Il - Era Japanese War Coiminals to U.S.A." The Keeney
memorandum was initialed also by DAAG Richard,

14. This view was expressed by the Executive Director of Center for Internee Rights in Miam
Beach, a man whose father died while a prisoner of the Japanese. See “U.S. Bars Japanese Who
Admits War Crime,” by James Dao, The New York Times, June 27, 1998 (hereafter “Dao
article™).

15. Dao article, supra, n. 14.

16. One of the speakers acknowledged culturing bacteria used in lethal expeniments and
participating in five live autopsies. In 2001, he wanted to attend another conference along the
lines of the earlier one. O8I again opposed the request and no waiver was granted. June 25,
2001 memo from Rosenbaum to DAAG Swartz re “Simon Wiesenthal Center Request 1o Waive
Exclusion of Japanese War Criminal.”

17. See ¢.g., “Japan Keeps Stonewalling on WWII Bio-Research Atrocities,” by Ralph
Blumenthal and Judith Miller, The New York Times, Mar.7, 1999; “Lawyers Target Japanese
Abuses,” by Michael Dobbs, The Washington Post, Mar. 5, 2000; “Japan Blocking Probe of War
Criminals, U.S. Says,” by Teresa Watanabe, The Los dngeles Times, Dec. 9, 1998,
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Bohdan Koziy

Koziy was one of the first cases filed by OS1. As a Ukrainian policeman during World
War 11, he had helped round up Jews and forcibly relocate them to a ghetto. At his
denaturalization proceeding, witnesses testified that he had murdered a four-year-old Jewish
child by shooting her at point blank range as she pled for her life; they also had seen him murder
an entire Jewish family.

His citizenship was revoked in 1982.7 While the case was on appeal, the Justice
Department hoped 1o persuade Poland to seek Koziy's extradition and to try him for war crimes.
The Poles were uninterested.” In 1985, after his citizenship had been revoked, and while
deportation proceedings were pending, Koziy fled 1o Costa Rica.

The deportation hearing continued in his absence, and the court ordered him deported 1o
the Soviet Union.® Since he was oulside the United States, however, there was no way to enforce
the court’s order. From OSI's vantage point, Koziy had “escape[d] from justice.””

The Soviets were of the same view. A year after Koziy arrived in Costa Rica, the Soviet
Union sought to have him extradited to stand trial for treason. Costa Rica initially agreed.
However, Koziy generated public support in Costa Rica by holding a gun to his head and saying,
“1 wanlt to die in a free country.” In addition, the Catholic church, both in Ukraine and Costa
Rica, came o his aid. According to the Ukrainian Cardinal, Koziy was being “falsely accused by
the communists and the Jews.™ In 1987, the Costa Rican government reversed its earlier ruling
and rejected the Soviet request for extradition. The stated reason for this change was concern
that Koziy faced the death penalty in the Soviet Union,”

Afier the fall of the Soviet Union, the WJC announced a global campaign o expel Koziy
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from Costa Rica.'” Dozens of congressmen, including Tom Lantos, the only Holocaust survivor
in Congress, petitioned the Costa Rican government.'' In February 2000, Costa Rica’s president
ordered Koziy's expulsion, It was unclear, however, where he should be sent. Prior to the war,
the scene of Koziy's activity was part ol Poland. It became part of the Soviet Union as a resuit
of that nation's 1939 pact with Hitler. It 1s now located in Ukraine.

Jewish organizations and members of Congress urged Ukraine to admit Koziy and to
prosecute him." By this time, however, only one of the eyewitnesses who had testified to
Koziy's atrocities was still alive, and she had recanted.” The chance of a successful prosecution
in Ukraine was therefore significantly diminished. (He could possibly still be convicted of lesser
charges.) Nonetheless, Director Rosenbaum supported the effort to send Koziy to Ukraine, as
did the Deparimeni of State. Rosenbaum was of the view that if Koziy “end[ed] up in a country
where at least hic knows he might be prosecuted, we would consider that a positive outcome.™

The Ukrainians were sending mixed messages about prosecuting Koziy, Although they
expressed an interest in investigating the maner, they never took up OSI's offer to review the
files — even after OSI offered to provide an interpreter, along with copies and translations of all
pertinent documents.”  Similarly confusing was the fact that they advised Koziy by letter that he
would be arrested if he set foot on Ukrainian soil — even as they conceded to OS] that they were
no longer sure they could mount a viable case,'®

They were also sending mixed messages about his returning to their country. While they
hael originally indicated they would grant him a visa ifhe applied,'” they in fact waited months to
respond 0 s request and then denied it on the ground that he had asked for the wrong tvpe of

visa, Under Ukrainian law, he would have to wait at least one vear before he could reapply for
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the type they now claimed was appropriate.'

A Catch-22 situation was developing. Under Costa Rican law, Koziy had to choose a
counlry of destination before the expulsion could be effected. He had chosen Ukraine, vet
Ukraine would not have him — at least not in the near future, Moreover, the very validity of the
expulsion order was put in question when Ukraine notified Koziy that he would be arrested.
Costa Rican law distinguishes expulsion, which is simply a removal process, from extradition, a
means to secure proseculion. Ukraine’s statement allowed Koziy to argue thal his expulsion was
a “disguised extradition, and as such, illegal.”” Both Director Rosenbaum and Steve Donlon, a
Consular Affairs officer at the Department of State who was working with OS] on the Koziy
matter, were suspicious that Koziy and the Ukrainians were working together — each pretending
that the goal was to have him return to Ukraine when in fact, each for their own reason, wanted
him 1o remain in Costa Rica,™

It is easy to understand Koziy's motivation. He had a comfortable lifestyle and faced no
prospect of prosecution in Costa Rica. The Ukrainian position is more complex, Rosenbaum
surrnised that the Ukrainians wanted Koziy to remain in Costa Rica because there was
insufficient evidence to prosecute him in Ukraine; they feared they would be castigated by the
United States and Jewish groups for failing to prosecute someone the United States had branded
a Nazi murderer. Rosenbaumn believed the Ukrainians were particularly sensitive about negative
publicity because they were receiving much of it on other unrelated issues: they were in a battle
with the International Monetary Fund concerning overdue payments, and the Ukrainian president
was in the midst of a scandal linking him to the beheading of a muckraking journalist,”

In a senes of meetings and phone calls with the Ukrainians, Rosenbaum, in coordination
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with the State Department. played on this fear to encourage the Ukraimans to pursue the case. At
a meeting with Ukraine’s Consul General, Rosenbaum opined that the matter could well becomne
*big news” which would ¢mbarrass the Ukrainian government.™ At a later meeting with
Ukrainian officials and representatives from the U.S. State Department, Rosenbaum commented
that one of the leading human rights advocates in Congress was anxious 1o raise the Koziy
matter.”’ At every meeting, and during every phone call, Rosenbaum balanced the implicit threat
of exposure with an offer to assist the Ukrainians in investigating the case. He also gave his
word that if it turned out there was insufficient evidence to sustain a prosecution, he would issue
a statement praising the Ukrainians for their efforts and blaming the problems on the death of
crucial witnesses while Koziy remained in Costa Rica. Rosenbaum assured the Ukrainians that
his explanation would be accepted by those who might otherwise criticize the Ukrainians.” His
reference — though he did not say so explicitly — was to Jewish organizations.

In June 2002, Rosenbaum and several State Department representatives met with various
Ukrainian officials, including the Deputy Procurator General (equivalent to the Deputy Attomney
General of the United States) to discuss the matter vet again. During the course of the meeting,
Rosenbaum and the Deputy Procurator General debated the goal to be achieved in the Koziy
matter. For Rosenbaum, it was removing Koziy from Costa Rica and placing him in the part of
the world which bore responsibility for his crimes. As long as Koziy lived in fear of prosecution,
Roscnbaum believed there would be a measure of justice.

The Ukrainians disagreed with the premise that life in Ukraine was punishment in and of
iself. On the contrary. they noted that many in Ukraine would treat him as a hero simply

because he fought against the Russians during World War I, The Ukrainian goal was
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prosecution; if they did not have the evidence to prosecute, it did not matter to them where Koziy
resided,

The U.5. participants left the meeting believing that no progress had been made. They
were therefore quite surprised to learn in December 2002 that a Ukrainian court had ruled there
was sufficient evidence to seck Koziy's extradition on charges of treason.” Shortly thereafter, in
response 10 a request from Ukraine, the Department of Justice sent videotaped interviews of
seven witnesses and a transenpt (on microfilm) of the entire U.S. tnial record.

Around the same time, Poland asked OSI and Ukraine to forward evidence on Koziy.
(The SWC had been pressing Poland to take action.)™ OS] complied with the request. Ukraine,
however, refused, contending that the crimes were committed in Ukrainian territory and should
be handled by that country alone.®” In June 2003, at Poland’s request, an OS] attorney
interviewed in the United States a witness who had testified for the government in the 1985
denaturalization proceeding.

Unsure whether a Polish indictment would ever be issued, OS] and the State Department
determined to press Ukraine to accepl Koziy.® Poland, however, did follow up. In November
2003, Poland obtained a provisional arrest warrant for Koziy - a prerequisite to an extradition
request. Working with OSI's evidence as well as additional material they developed on their
own, they alleged Koziy was responsible for 15 murders.  Two weeks later, Ukraine too obtained
a warrant.” The question then became which country would be first to formally present an
extradition request to the Costa Rican government.

The answer was Poland, which did 30 on November 21, 2003. Shonly after receiving

notification of the request, Koziy suffered a stroke. He died in Costa Rica nine days aficr the
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request was filed.™
larrv Miinni

Harry Minml spent three months with the Estonian Scll Delense Unit (Omakaitse) and a
like period with the Estonian Political Police. Both organizations worked with the Nazis o rid
Estonia of those whom the Mazis deemed undesirable because of their racial, religious, political,
ethnic and social identity.

Dwring the period when Mdénnil was with the Omakaitse (the summer of 1941}, the
German focus was almost entirely on suspected Communists. By the time he joined the
Estonian Political Police, in the fall of 1941, the Germans were actively routing out Jews as
well.!

Germans determined the fate of arrestees based largely on reports and recommendations
from the Political Police.” Reports of seven interrogations conducted by Miinnil while with the
Political Police are available in the Estonian State Archives; six of those interrogated were
Jewish or were questioned about the whercabouts of Jews. One of the six was murdered by the
Germans shortly after his interrogation; four were sent to concentration camps.™

After the war, Minnil emigrated to Venezuela where he became a citizen and successful
businessman.”™ In 1949 he obtained a visa to visit the United States, which he did many times
throughout the vears.

AliEnnil was brought 1o OS1's attention by the SWC in December 1993, Since he was
neither a LS, citizen nor living in the United States, there was no suit to be filed. |le was,
however, placed on the Watchlist in Jonuary 1994, Although he was two weeks later allowed 1o

change planes in Miami en rorre 1o Costa Rica, he has not since been permitted into the ULS.
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Nonetheless, because of his significant and direct role in persecution, OS] has maintained a keen
interest in him.

As discussed earlier,” OSI tried, unsuccessfully, to persuade the Estonians to launch a
full-scale investigation of Minnil. OS] hoped that he could be extradited to Estonia if charpes
were filed. While showing some interest in the investipation, Estonia never filed charges.

In January 2003, Venezuela was in political and economic turmoil. Ménnil, interviewed
by an Estonian weekly, stated that he had moved to Costa Rica a month earlier.™ The American
Embassy in Estonia informed OS] of the interview, and Director Rosenbaum immediately
notified the Costa Rican ambassador to the United States.”” The Ambassador, who had worked
closely with O51 on the Koziy matter, asked for any documentation which would support
expelling Ménnil from the country. OS5I sent him a report detailing Ménnil's history. Shortly
thereafter, the Costa Ricans learned that Minnil was planning a trip to Venezuela to setile some
business marters. Costa Rica’s Director of Immigration boarded Minnil's plane and handed him
a letter stating that he would not be allowed to return to Costa Rica. The letter explained that this
decision was based on “information received from the Justice Department of the Government of
the United States concemning your participation in activities of political persecution of Jews
which vou carried out while a member of the Political Police of Tallinn, Estonia.” Once Mannil
was out of the country, the Costa Ricans held a press conference lo announee his expulsion; the
evenl received news coverage worldwide.™

OS5I had coordinated its Costa Rican contacts with the State Departiment. Although OSI
had hoped that the information forwarded to Costa Rica would be made public, the State

Department precluded release of the documents. The Estonians were in the midst of an election
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campaign in which one of the contentious issues had a Nazi twist.  The Minister of the Interior
was being attacked for having sentenced several teenagers to prison during the Soviet era; he
defended the sentence on the ground that the teenagers were “fascists™ fascinated with Nazi
memurabilia. Given this backdrop, the State Department feared that release of OSI's underlying
information (even if it were done through the Costa Ricans) would be seen as the ULS,
intervening to assist the minister.™

Ironically, although OS1's report was not released, the issue became a cause célébre in
Esionia before their election ook place. In February 2003, Joseph De Thomas, the U.S.
Ambassador to Estonia, was asked about Minnil after he gave a speech on an unrelated topic in
Tallinn. The questioner accused the U.S. of “discriminating” against Ménnil. The ambassador
defended the U.S. actions, noting that some of Minnil’s victims had been children and old
women. His comments created a furor in Estonia.™

Meanwhile, Minnil's attorneys (one of whom was Martin Mendelsohn) successfully
petitioned the Costa Rican government to reconsider its position. In early 2004, Costa Rica
dropped its opposition to Minnil’s reentry. The povernment did so on the grounds that Minnil
was not facing charges abroad and had earlier spent extended time in Costa Rica without
incident.*

The Minnil and Koziy cases illustrate OS1's effort in the hunt for World War 1
persecutors worldwide, Although the United States lacks jurisdiction to prosccute criminally
those who commitied erimes abroad on behalf of the Nazis, it has taken on the task of sharing
information it has on Nazis with like-minded countrics throughout the world. It has also sought

to raise the awareness of countries abroad so that they are more sensitive of the need to rid
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themselves of Nazis in their midst and to prosecute if possible.
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Chapter Seven: Reaction to OS]
Introduction

Although the founding of O8I came abowut after wide media coverage of “war criminals”
in America, the spotlight dimmed over the vears, A few matters drew extensive media attention
~ Demjanjuk, Barbie and Mengele being notable examples. But in general, aside from some
local attention paid to an OSI trial, the cases now go unreported. At this point — more than 25
vears after OSI's founding — it is unlikely that most members of the public at large are aware of
the office.

The big exception, of course, has always been those who have reason to follow O5I's
cases and activity. The groups that fall most obviously into that category are two: (1) those who
see closure in OS51's work (generally Jewish proups and Holocaust survivors); and (2) those who
fear they have been unfairly targeted by OSI (generally emigré groups, largely from Estonia,
Latvia and Lithuania, whose constituents make up the bulk of O8I defendants). Of course the
lines are not so simply drawn, Within the Jewish community, there has been occasional
::ritir..;iﬁm, and within the emigré community there has been some support. Moreover, there are
others, independent of each of these groups, who have taken stands on some aspect of OSI's

work. How OS] has responded to both the support and criticism is key to understanding the

office and its legacy.
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The Jewish Community

The Department of Justice represents Americans as a whole. [However, it is not
uncommon for segments of the public, including non-governmental organizations, to be
particularly interested in certain arcas of the Depantment’s work. These groups sometimes prod
the Department 1o pursue matters of concern; at other times they may monitor, support or
crificize the Department’s efforts. Such, for example, is the case with environmental groups and
the Environmental and Natural Resources Division, advocates for the minority and disabled
community with the Civil Rights Division, and Jewish organizations with OSL.

From the SLU era to the present day. the office has kept Jewish groups apprised of
significant matters. It has also shown particular concern for Holocaust survivors. When the
government moved to dismiss the case against Frank Walus, it did so because it believed he had
not committed the persecutory acts about which the survivors had testified.” Nonetheless, the
government issued a statement saying it had “no doubt that the witnesses who testified on behalf
of the govemment - the survivors of the Nazi persecutions of Czestochowa and Kielce — testified
sincerely and honestly.” The Department showed similar deference to the sensitivity of the
survivors who identified John Demjanjuk as Ivan the Terrible, Although most within the
Department ultimately came to believe that Demjanjuk was not in fact Ivan (based in part of
evidence which became available only afier Demjanjuk’s extradition), there was never an official
acknowledgment of this change in viewpoint. This is so despite the fact that the Depariment
ulimately dropped all charges relating to Treblinka and reprosecuted Demjanjuk on other

prounds.

OS1's first Dircetor, Walter Rockler, viewed the directorship in traditional prosceutorial




terms, which meant that he did not seek community input into the process. Nevertheless,
hecause of his Nuremburg experience, the Jewish community knew and trusted him. His

successor, Allan Ryan, was unknown to them.

Ryan saw public relations as a large component of the job, and believed that support of
the Jewish community was essential.”  Accordingly, he met with as many Jewish groups as
possible, asking for their confidence and encouraging them to tell their constituencies that this
new office was here to "do business.” As a non-Jew, he had a special point to convey.

When [ came along, people said “Boy, this guy’s not even Jewish. How do you

like that?” Tt gave me the opportunity to say “This is not a Jewish prosecution.

This is not a Jewish issue exclusively. This is an American issue. And as much

as Jews obviously are deeply involved in this and have a special relationship to it,

I am here as a representative of the Department of Justice to pursue an issue that is

important on the American agenda. This should not be seen as something that is

exclusively the concemn of the Jews.™

There was assistance which Jewish groups in particular could provide, however.
Especially in the early years, before the Justice Department had its own databank or research and
development system, outside help was crucial. Jewish groups provided information concerning
possible subjects and connected OSI to survivor organizations whose members were potential
witnesses.* During trials, they attended 1o the religious needs of out-of-town witnesses.” They
sometimes filed briefs in support of OSI's position.®

Throughout the years, Jewish groups or leaders have spoken out on issues of moment to
OS], In doing so, they often serve as a surrogate for the office. They have publicized Germany’s
refusal to accept OSI defendants as deportees;” convinced the Panamanian Ambassador to

rescind his country’s offer to accept Karl Linnas;* launched a global campaign to pressure Costa

Rica into expelling Bohdan Koziy and sending him to Ukraine to be tried for war crimes;” and
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urged Japan to furnish QST with biographical data on possible persecutors.'® On the legislative
front, the WJIC and ADL prevailed upon Congress 1o crafi legislation which would exempt
records “related 1o or supporting any active or inactive investigation, inquity, or prosecution’”
{from release under the Nazi War Crimes Disclosure Act.'' The exclusion, which affects fewer
than 1% of documents covered by the Act, is designed 10 preclude the relcase of matenal that
would jeopardize ongoing OS] investigations.

Jewish groups have also defended OSI from criticism. During the 19805, defendants
repeatedly challenped the reliahility of evidence from Soviet and East European archives.”? The
ADL issued a well-publicized report lambasting various emigré groups for using this issue to
“hamper and frustrate the OSI — and eventually to kill it.”" The WIC released a similar
analysis." In 1993, after the Sixth Circuit excoriated QS in Demyjanjuk for having a “mindset™
that reguired it Lo “iry to please and maintain very close relationships with various interest groups
because their continued existence depended upon it,” Jewish organizations attacked the
decision." They also lobbied against Judge Gilbert Merritt, one of the judges in both Demjanjuk
and Petkiewyisch, when his name surfaced on a short list 1o fill a Supreme Court vacancy.'

This type of activity leads w a perception of symbiosis between OS] and the Jewish
community. That perception is enhanced by the fact that Director Rosenbaum spent two years as
Cieneral Counsel to the WJC and Director Sher left OS] to join a prominent Jewish lobbying
group.'” The perception sometimes works to OS1°s advantage, as others fear that OSI can arouse
a powerful Jewish lobby if need be.'

et the symhbiosis is not perfect. At times, 051 defendants have been represented by

Jewish lowyers, They have generally defended their decision 1o represent alleged Nazi
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persecutors on the ground that refusing to represent a class of persons per se is reminiscent of the
treatment Jews received in Nazi Germany.

The dismissal of the Waluy and Soobzokov cases, the prosecution of Jacob Tannenbaum,
and the negotiated settlement of some O8I cases, were all controversial decisions which aroused
mixed reactions among Jews.”  And in the case of André Bettencourt, OSI did not place him on
the Watchlist despite public pressure from renowned Nazi hunter Serge Klarsfeld.™

Given the overall strength of the relationship between OS1 and the established Jewish
leadership, disagreements of this sort have no long-term effects. There are, however, fringe
Jewish organizations whose activities are much more problematic for OS1. Indeed, some of their
activities have been counterproductive to OSI's mission. The most serious by far is their
apparent involvement in the death of Tscherim Soobzokov, discussed elsewhere in this report.”!

'There have been other problems as well. Jewish groups have disrupted trials,” harassed
defense counsel,” and assaulted defendants. On the very day of Soobzokov's death, a fire broke
out in front of the home of Elmars Sprogis, whose order of denaturalization had been reversed
four months earlier. When the front door was opened to a passerby seeking to alert the occupants
of the fire, a bomb exploded. Although Sprogis was not harmed, the samaritan’s lower leg had
to be amputated. Shortly after the incident, a call came to the local newspaper: “Listen carefully.
Jewish Defense Leapue. Nazi war criminal. Bomb. Never again. In 1980, a bomb went off
al an apariment building owned by an O8I defendant. The day prior, a man identifying himself
as a Holocaust survivor wamed a local news agency that he would kill the defendant.™ Frank
Walus, prosecuted before O51's founding, was sprayed in the face with mace by a man

identifying himself as the head of the JDL in Chicago.™®
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The most repeatedly victimized OS] defendant was Boleslavs Maikovskis, a Latvian chief
of police during World War IL'" The TNS filed suit against him in 1976. [n 197§, with the
Litigation sull pending, several shots were fired into Matkovskis' home, wounding him scriously.
Although the JDL disclaimed responsibility, the national director of the group stated that the
orgamzatlon was:

ecsiatic that it happened. We're only unhappy the man is still alive. ... We don't

rro around shooting and killing people, but we hope to serve as an inspiration to
those who do.*

The following vear, a man representing himself as a reporter stabbed a guest in the
Maikovskis home and then fled. The anonymous assailant later identified himself to the media
as a member of a group called Jewish Executioners With Silence (JEWS) and said that
Maikovskis had been the target.” Gasoline bombs and flammable fluids were aimed at the
Maikovskis home several times in the succeeding years, although no one was injured. After one
such incident, a caller said the firehombing was “revenge for crimes [Maikovskis] committed.”™
Even during his deportation hearing in a public courtroom, Maikovskis was not safe. OS]
attorney Jetfrey Mausner blocked a would-be assailant from reaching the defendant.

Save the atternpted courtroom assault, no arrests were made in any of the cases involving

violent acts against O8I defendants.”  As of this writing, FBI investigations into the crimes

remain open.
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. See pp. 83-86.
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. Ryan recorded interview, Oct. 6, 2000,
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. Eg, in 1976, Dr. Oscar Karbach of the WJC provided INS with a [ist of 61 names of alleged
persecutors culled from media accounts. That same year, the WIC sent the SLU the names of
Treblinka survivors to interview for the Fedorenko investigation. In 1980, the WJC contacted
Yiddish newspapers worldwide in a search for survivors from a camp in Estonia headed by then
5] subject Karl Linnas.

Over the years, Jewish publications printed notices about OS1's need for wilnesses from
particular camps or regions. £ g., ADL notice in Spring, 1991 issue of Briefings, published by
the Union of American Hebrew Congregations; item in June 27, 1991 issue of Washington
Jewish Week and June 1991 issue of One Generation Afrer re 0581 seeking survivors of the
bauthausen camp.

5. E.g,ifawitness wanted to attend services or dine in a kosher restaurant, Jewish groups
assisted. Ryan interview, supra, n. 3.

6. Eg, the WIC filed an amicus curiae bref in the Second Circuit for the Linnas case and one
in the Supreme Court for Kungys. Al the time each of these was filed, Eli Rosenbaum was
General Counsel for the WJIC. The ADL, American Jewish Congress, Hadassah, United
Synagogues of Conservative Judaism and Jewish War Veterans filed a joint brief supporting the
Justice Department’s request for rehearing in Demyjanjuk. The Holocaust Survivors in Pursuit of
Justice, the WIC, the International Association of Jewish Lawyers and Jurists (American

Section), the American Jewish Committee, the American Jewish Congress, the ADL, the
Mational Jewish Commission on Law and Public AfTairs, the SWC, the Society of Survivors of

the Riga Gheno, the Union of Orthodox Jewish Congregations of America, and the WIC al] filed
in support of the government’s petition for certioran in that case.

7. E.g,June 9, 2005 press release from the SWC, “Wiesenthal Center Calls Upon German
Gov't to Admit and Prosecute Mazi Collaborators Ordered Deported from the United States;”
“lewish Group: Germany Not Taking War Criminals,” AP, June 5, 1985,

8. Seep. 284,
9. See pp. 310-311.

[l Congressman Lantos wroie to the Japanese Prime Minister and met with the fapanese
Ambassador in a futile effort to ameliorate the problem, Oct. 27, 1999 letter from Rep. Lantos to
Prime Minister Keizo Obuchi;, Apr, 11, 2000 letter from Ambassador Shunji Yanai to Rep.
Lantos discussing their meeling and the Ambassador’s response.




11. Discussion with Director Rosenbaum.
Even docurmnents in closed OSI investigations are covered under the exemption because

they may have information (including subject or witness names) relevant to ongoing
investigations. However, the exclusion is not rigid, It can be waived, and indeed, OSI has done
$0 many times.

12. See pp. 537-540,

13. “An ADL Special Report, The Campaign Against the U.S. Justice Department’s Prosecution
of Suspected Nazi War Criminals,” June 1985.

14. “East European Emigres Are Accused of Impeding Hunt for WNazis in U.S.," by Mary
Thomton, The Washington Post, Apr. 6, 1985,

15. E g., the ADL found the court’s accusation “absolutely mindboggling.” *Appellate Panel
Rebukes Justice Dept on Demjanjuk,” by Michael Isikoff, The Washingron Post, Nov. 18, 1993.

16. See e.g., “Latest Version of Supreme Court List: Babbitt in Lead, 2 Judges Close Behind,”
by Thomas Friedman, The New York Times, June 8, 1993; “Grumbling Grows as Babbint
Considered for High Court,” by Paul Richter, The Los Angeles Times, June 9, 1993,

At the time Jewish groups were lobbying against Merritt, the Demyanjuk ruling had not
yet been issued. However, Chief Judge Merritt had already been instrumental in reopening the
case and allowing Demjanjuk to return to the LS. (When the opinion was issued, 1t was
authored by Judge Lively, with Judges Merritt and Keith in full agreement.)

Whether Merritt would have been the nominee absent Jewish lobbying is unknown. He,
however, believed that to be the case. “Demjanjuk Judge: Jews Torpedoed Bid for Top Court,”
The Forward, Feb. 10, 19935,

17. Sher joined AIPAC, the American Isracl Public Affairs Commitiee. In 1994, when wrniting
to the Aomey General to urge the Department to investigate Allan Ryan (see p. 168), Judge
Merritt made pointed reference to this move.

[Jewish special interest] groups, no matter how powerful politically, should no
longer be permitted to influence the administration of justice in the Department. |
call to your attention the fact that in the past few months the head of OSI went
over 1o run the most important of these groups, APAC [sic].

Oct. 20, 1994 letter from Chief Judge Merritt to Attorney General Janet Reno.

Alter leaving AIPAC, Sher joined the International Commuassion on Holocaust Era
Insurance Claims. He resigned in 2002 amid allegations that he had misappropriated $136,000.
He was disbarred in the District of Columbia in August 2003.

18. Director Rosenbaum sometimes used this subtle suggestion to prod various parties to action.
£ g, ina May 3, 2000 phonecall with the State Department’s Romanian Desk, Rosenbaum
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opined that the Jewish conunumity would be very upset if Romania did not agree to accept
Mikolaus Schiffer as a deportee. That same month he wroie to the State Department, noting that
Congress and the public would be critical if Germany did not accept two other deporiees. He
made a similar arpument to the State Department’s Special Ambassador on War Crimes. When
speaking with the German Political Minister about Germany’s refusal to take in 051 deportees,
Rosenbaum suggested that he was able to fan the flames of controversy, See p, 439,

19. Tunnenbaum — editorial opposing the prosecution: Washington Jewish Week, June 18,
1987; statements of support by Jewish leaders: “Haunting Issues Surround Jewish Nazi Camp
Overseer,” by Samuel Freedman, The New York Times, May 26, 1987,

IWerlus = The Jewish United Fund of Metropolitan Chicago, The American Jewish
Congress and the Anti-Defamation League all urged the government to pursue the case. Mar. 4,
1980 letter from Joel Sprayregen to U8, District Attorney [sic] Thomas P. Sullivan; "Analysis of
the Seventh Circuit Opinion in US. v. Frank Walus," by the ADL and the American Jewish
Congress, Mar. 1980, The lsraelis made public their displeasure with the government’s decision:
"Israeli Assails Justice Dept. Decision on Accused Nazi," The New York Times, lan. 26, 1981;
"Data Against Walus lgnored — 2 lsraelis,” The Chicago Sun-Times, Jan. 25, 1981.

Seobzokov - Although not angry at OS], Rep. Holtzman was “angered by the
implications” of government wrongdoing which allowed Scobzokov to enter the country, “CILA
1952 Files Save Ex-Mazi in Deportation Case,” by Thomas O Toole, The Washington Post, July
10, 1980,

Re settlement of cases, see e.g., “Echoes from the Holocaust Sound for 2 Neighbors,” by
Sean P. Murphy, The Bosion Globe, June 25, 1990, in which the ADL expressed disappointment
that OSI was not seeking a defendant’s deportation. (Due 1o the defendant’s poor health, OSI
accepled his forfeiture of citizenship in return for the government’s commitment not to seek

deportation. )

20. See pp. 301-302. In March 1995, Abraham Foxman, MNational Director of the ADL, told the
French daily Le Monde that he opposed the efforts 1o bar Bettencourt's entry into the United
States, both because Bettencourt's writings constitute insufficient grounds {in ADL's view) for
placing him on the Watchlist and because Bettencourt "has publicly apologized to the Jewish

people.”
21. See pp. 349-350.

22, Eg. During the 1998 trial of Jacob Reimer, Jewish spectators screamed at the defendant. In
2000, during the Fedir Kwoceak trial, a lone Jewish protestor, wearing a skullcap and an
armband imprinted with a Star of David and the word “Justice,” stood menacingly behind the
defendant and his family, He rejected the marshals” request 1o move and was persuaded to do so
only after the judge spoke to him dircetly. In 1981, a Jewish speciator was barred from the trial
of Bohdan Koziy alter shouting at a defense witness outside the courtroom. During the 1985
extradition hearing of Andrija Artukovic, jeers and threats were exchanged between Croatian and
Jewish groups attending the proceeding. A JDL member was arrested for disorderly conduct and
failure to vacate tederal property. “Artukovie Ruled Mentally Fit to Assist in Defense,” by
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William Overend, The Los dngeles Times, Jan, 31, 1985,

23, See e.g, “Artukovic’s Anomey Tells of Threats,” by William Overend, The Los Angeles
Times, Jan. 28, 1983,

24, “Bomb Explodes at LI [Long Island] Home of Figure in Nazi Hearing,” by Phil Mintz and
Peter Marks, Long Island Newsday, Sept. 7, 1985, The injured samaritin later sued the U.S,,
claiming that, because of previous death threats to Sprogis, the government should have known
and protected against the impending danger. A judge dismissed the lawsuit, ruling that the
federal government was not responsible for the injuries. “Don't Blame U.S., Samaritan Told,”
by Edna Negron, Long [sland Newsday, July 7, 1987,

25. “Threatening Letter Wnter,” AP, Jan. 30, 1980,

26. “Man Hurls Mace at Suspected Naz, Seized,” by Iim Casey, The Chicago Sun-Times, Feb,
2, 1977.

27. See pp. 427, 430-431 for a discussion of Maikovskis and his prosecution both in the U. S.
and Germany.

28. AP Release by Arthur Everent, Aug. 4, 1978,

29, “Alleged Naz1's Guest Knifed on L.1.” [Long [sland], by Shawn G. Kennedy, The New York
Times, June 14, 1979,

30, “Mare Violence on Tense Street,” by Richard Firstman, Long Jsland Newsday, May 1980,

31. There was no prosecution as a result of the courtroom incident. It is unknown whether the
assailant was Jewish or affiliated with any particular group.

The Coalition for the Protection of Constitutional Rights and Security, an organization of
emigré groups opposcd to O51's methods and practices in the 1980s, held the Justice Department
accountable for all the violence; they argued that the Department should have spoken out on the
issue. “The Justice Department is Not Concerned About Justice,” Draugas, Oct. 8, 1985.
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Critics

OSI is not without its critics. They include a wide range of people whose objections vary
from procedural to substantive. Some of the criticism is directed at specific cases; some applies
to OS] prosccutions generally, and some to OSI officials in particular.

At the outset, many questioned the need for the office at all. Some felt that these
defendants, now elderly, were not a sufficiently high priority matter to warrant a separate unit
devoted 1o their prosecution.! Even some Jews were skeptical. They warried that if the effort
failed it would suggest impotence of the Jewish people, thereby furthering a stereotype that
lingered from World War Il. Moreover, they were concerned that prosecutions, with attendant
media coverage, would bring increased pain to some Holocaust survivors.?

Once the office was established, some emigrés from the Soviet Union and the “eaptive
nations” of Latvia, Estonia and Lithuama feared that OS] was on a massive and unjustifiable
witchhunt. They suspected that political considerations led OSI to focus on those who emigrated
from Eastern Europe, while people from Japan and Nazi-occupied western Europe escaped
scrutiny.” OSI sought to allay these concerns, explaining that since the DPA and RRA favored
those lleeing Communism, the concentration of Eastern European defendants was a function of
immigration patterns and not political agenda. Moreover, the East European community as a
whole was not targeted; very few were suspected of having assisted in persecution.’

Mot everyone was convinced. Some emigré publicatnons wamed their readers that they
were in danger of being deported, and urged them not to cooperate with the Depanment of
Justice.” This stymied OS] from developing sources of information or witnesses within the local

Baltic communities.
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To the extent that QST learned of possible subjects from Communist publications,” and
relied on documents and witnesses from behind the Iron Curtain, defendants and critics argued
that the evidence was not credible. They posited that the Soviet Union (or its satellite countries)
fubricated charges and evidence in order to discredil activist emigrés in the United States.”
Various Department otficials met with emigré leaders throughout the vears to discuss the issue;
there was also at least one meeting between emigrés and White House personnel.” MNonetheless,
the alleged unreliability of Soviet-sourced evidence remained the most common defense to OS]
prosecutions for over a decade.

In fact, however, very few (5] defendants were active in the anti-Communist
movement,'” Moreover, there was no correlation between activism and tips from Soviet sources.
Their tips involved some who were active, as well as some who were politically quiescent. In
many instances, the Soviets had no information about an OSI subject; in one case, O3] dismissed
proceedings afier a Soviet witness provided exculpatory evidence.!' In any event, even if the
Soviet motivation for naming a person was suspect, that did not necessarily render the accusation
false. The case ulumately depended on the reliability of the witnesses and documents used 1o
suppuort the charge, as tested by U.5. judicial standards for admissibility.

At first, the U.S, government itsell sent mixed messapes about the reliability of Soviet
witnesses in Nazi war crimes investigations. [n the pre-0OSI era, the Department of State (DOS)
routinely ignored requests from NS for assistance in working with the Soviets on Nazi
investigations. The DOS feared that it could not “verify the credibility or, indeed, the identity of
the witnesses provided us by the Soviet authorities.™ Moreover, 10 the extent that the Soviets

themselves had war crimes charges pending against some NS subjects, the State Department
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feared that the Soviets would not make available any witnesses whose positions did not support
the Soviet prosecutions.'

The State Department’s intransigence. in the face of repeated requests for assistance from
INS, aroused the ire of Congressman Joshua Eilberg, Chair of the House Subcommitiee on
Immigration Citizenship and International Law. It was only after Eilberg complained to the
Secretary of State, and to the President, that DOS requested information from the Soviets about
several INS subjecis.™

As noted earlier, American officials made several tnps to the U.S.S.R. to seck access to
wilnesses in Nazi war crimes cases.” Among them, Chairman Eilberg and Congresswoman
Holtzman went in 1975, SLU Director Martin Mendelsohn in 1978, and OS] Director Walter
Rockler and his then-deputy Allan Ryvan in 1980. [n addition, Attorney General Civiletti
discussed the issue with the Soviet Chief Justice in 1979, As a result of these meetings, the
Soviets agreed to allow questioning of their citizens in accordance with procedures acceptable in
U.S. counts of law. Although a Soviet procurator (prosecutor) had to be present, (s)he would
have no prior notice of the questions. OS5I attorneys and defense counsel could question and
cross examine the witnesses. Most importantly, the depositions would be videotaped. Ifa
witness were later unable to travel to the United States to testify, a judge could view the tape to
assess witness demeanor and credibility as well as the format of the deposition.'  [n October
1989, Attorney General Richard Thomburgh, the first Attomey General to visit the Soviet Union,
signed a memorandum of understanding with his counterpart in which both countries agreed to
continue these practices and to further their cooperation in the pursuit of Nazi persecutors,

The Department of Justice maintained that these procedures assured the reliability of the
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proceedings,”” OSI's critics and defendants were not as sanguine, They argued that the mere
presence of a Soviet procurator (and there were sometimes more than one representative from the
procurator’s office) rendered the proceeding intimidating and coercive."

There was support for both sides of the argument. In some cases, Soviel wilnesses
assisted and even exonerated the defendant;” in others, witnesses may have been inhibited from
giving exculpatory testimony by the procurator’s derogatory comments about the defendant,
Some procurators referred to the defendant as a “war criminal™ and restricted cross
examination.”’ In one case, years after OSI's proceedings were complete, a witness recanted,
saying she had been forced by the Soviet authorities to testify falsely.”

The depositions were also very cumbersome. Many of the witnesses (e.g., Latvians and
Lithuanians) were not Russian speakers. Questions and answers were presented in their native
tongue, then translated into Russian (for the procurator) and then into English. These multiple
translations trebled the duration of the proceeding, making the videotape much more tedious to
watch. Critics feared that the courts would rely instead on the transcript, thereby losing the
benefit of demeanor evidence, which videotaping was designed to secure.” Such concerns were
especially important since — despite Soviet assurances to the contrary — none of the Soviet
witnesses was ever allowed to travel to the United States to testify.

Courts had mixed reactions to the depositions. Some accepted them at face value,™
while others rejected them entirely;™ some relied on them only to the extent that they were
corroborated by documentary evidence. ™

The documents were of two types: historical documents and protocols. The historical

documents were contemporaneous records made during the war: the protocols were interviews of
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defendants and witnesses taken after the war and used in overseas war crimes trials.

Critics challenged the historical documents on the grounds that they were out of context
and/or Soviet fabrications. The context argument was based on the tact that for the duration of
the Cold War, neither OSI nor defense counsel had direct access to Soviet archives.” As noted
carlier, one could only request information and hope the authorities would respond.™ 1f a party
worded its request poorly, related and relevant documents might be overlooked. There was no
opportunity for the litigating parties to sort through the files and serendipitously find supporting
material. Moreover, the Soviets searching for documents on behalf of the United States were
sometimes prosecutors rather than trained historians, They often had to rely on name-linked
indices which referenced only documents bearing a given subject’s name. They therefore might
overlook documenis detailing the activities of a unit and records pertaining to the setting of a
particular event.”¥ These difficulties were compounded by the fact that not all Soviet archivists
knew German or had sufficient knowledge of the captured records held by their institutions.

Such ineffective research was more likely to stymy OSI's investigation than to hamper
the defense, but it could arguably impact negatively on both sides. The more forceful argument
for the defense, however, and one it raised in case after case, was that documents from the Soviet
Union were forgeries.”™ OS] relied on forensics, including handwriting, fingerprint, paper, ink,
vlue, stamp and typewriter analvsis to refute such allegations.

In a few instances, critical records had fingerprint identification which made it possible to
connect a document to the defendant,” Some records had the defendant’s signature or
hundwriting. Matching the signature on a World War [l document to current handwriting

samples is more complex than routine signature comparisons.  There are complicating factors,



including the natural evolution of handwriting over time, the additional changes to handwriting
when poorly educated people become more educated, and the difficulty of matching Latinate
alphabet letters with the cyrillic lettering on many of the earlier documents.” Despite these
hurdles, some matches were made.™

In most cases, however, there are no relevant documents with the defendant's handwriting
or fingerprints. There are rosters, transfer rolls, military strength records, disciplinary reports and
medical records that contain the defendant’s name, but these were signed by commanding
officers, military clerks, hospital officials and the like.

5] uses various means to authenticate such documents. First, historians testify that the
Soviets had collected and stored the material at war's end and that finding the documents in
expected locations in and of itself gave them credibility.” Even more importantly, OS]
compares documents about the defendant 1o records of other soldiers and to information about
the defendant from a variety of sources. OS] searches for, and often finds, relevant records
scattered in archives throughout Europe and the United States. Birthdate, place of birth, lineage,
religion and other information in the defendants’ hometowns (from baptismal centificates, school
records, employment applications, etc.) are matched with military records elsewhere. OS5I also
compares military and police records for their intermal consistency, €. g, matching a promotion
form in one archive with records in another archive indicating the defendant’s new rank.
[ikewise, records of others promoted on or about the same date are examined to determine
whether the promoting otficer was the same. Post-war pension requests are examined to
determine dates and places of wartime service.”™ Hospital records are reviewed to compare the

personal histories thercin with dentifying information in military records. Wounds and scars are
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noted and compared with those on the defendant in the courtroom.”  [Hometown European
newspapers, copies of which might be in the Library of Congress as well as overseas, are
examined for stories corroborating information from the Soviet-sourced evidence.”

OS] also calls upon forensic chemists to determine the age of the paper and ink on the
relevant documents.”™ Inks have varying chemical profiles, and many inks manufactured during
the war years are no longer in use. The International Ink Library maintained by the U.S. Secret
Service has thousands of ink formulas from around the world, with their dates of manufacture
recorded. By removing several small plugs (1 - 2 mm) from the ink on O5] documents, forensic
chemists compare ink profiles (by visual examination as well as by ultraviolet and infrared
techniques) with those in the library. [f there is no match (perhaps because a particular ink was
not in the library), plugs are taken for comparison from documents in the U.S. Archives written
during the same era and in the same region.”

Chemists determine the age of the paper by analyzing those characteristics that vary over
time — color, the solubility and migration of ink components, fold endurance, tensile and tear
strength. Although the defense occasionally argued that the Soviets might have stockpiled old
ink and old paper, and recently created a document, the stylistic characteristics of handwriting on
the documents helped refute this contention, ™

Every court found the Soviet-sourced historical documents genuine.®' To the extent that
the furensic evidence cstablishes that the documents are of the proper vintage, and the various
ducuments are corroborative, it is hard to sustain the argument that they were Soviet fabrications.
One would have to believe that an extraordinanly elaborate scheme had been hatched which

involved fabricating documents from haptismal certificates to military and hospital records and
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storing them around the world, Moreover, because some of the comparative records were of
persons pof prosecuted by OS5I the Soviets would have had to have had the foresight to forge
documents of unrelated people and to keep them stored for decades betore OSI sought them.
Courts concluded that such an elaborate conspiracy was implausible.*

The protocols do not have the same inherent legitimacy. It is impossible to ascertain the
conditions under which these often decades-old interviews and interrogations had been taken.
OS] therefore uses them only if their details are corroborated in some respects. OSI looks for
such corroboration in the historical documents, other Soviet interrogations, and interrogations
from witnesses and subjects in Germany, Poland, Israel, Canada, the U.S., and post-Soviet
Russia and Ukraine. Some courts found the protocols reliable;” others were skeptical.*

While Soviet-sourced evidence has been the most sustained criticism of OS], critics also
decry the lack of procedural rights accorded OS] defendants. Because denaturalization and
deportation cases are civil proceedings, courts have held that the defendants have no Fifth
Amendment privilege against self-incrimination and no right to counsel or trial by jury. For the
same reason, neither a statute of limitations nor incompeltency shields a defendant from
prosccution.” Moreover, the courts have ruled that the Holtzman Amendment violates neither
the ex posi fucie nor the bill of artainder provisions in the Constitution. These procedural
safeguards preclude punishment imposed retroactively or without a trial; however, deportation is
not deemed to be punishment.**

Such rulings have led some crtics to suggest legislation authorizing OS1 1o prosecute
defendants in the United States as war criminals. The rationale for this proposal is that it would

at least guarantee the panoply of procedural rights associated with criminal cases and protect
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defendants from being deported and tried overseas.” However, the proposal never took hold,
probably for a variety of reasons. Among them are: (1) the ex posi facto clause would almost
certainly prevent imposing criminal sanctions for activities abroad which violated no LS.
statutes at the time the defendants emigrated; and (2) expanding rights in OSI cases would
necessitate a similar expansion in all deportations. While there are relatively few OSI
prosecutions, there are thousands of deportations annually; the cost, in both time and money,
would be enormous. |

In addition 1o being denied some protections applicable in criminal proceedings, OSI
defendants cannot avail themselves of a defense gencrally applicable in civil manters. Lachesisa
doctrine which allows cases 1o be dismissed if there is a lack of diligence in filing and the delay
prejudices the defendant. Although OSI cases involve events decades old, and in some cases the
government’s investigation has spanned a decade or more, courts have uniformly rejected
defense requests 1o dismiss based on laches. Some have held that laches can never 2pply in 2
denaturalization case:™ others have simply concluded that there was insufficient evidence of
prejudice to consider the doctrine in a particular case.”

Failing to win their cases in court, some defendants sought moral support from the United
Nations.® Between 1992 and 1996, these defendants, with emigré groups championing their
cause. filed a series of petitions to the U.N. Commission on Human Rights (UNCHR). They
raised many of the same arguments rejected by the courts. They also alleged that the government
had violated the Universal Declaration of 1luman Rights by rendering men stateless, subjecting
them to arbitrary exile. and leaving them destinue.”  Both the State and Justice Depaniments

feared that this might become a political issue at the U.N. In 1995, Dircctor Rosenbaum and a
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member of the State Department’s Office of Human Rights and Refugees flew to Cyprus to
discuss some of these issues with one of the UNCHR staffers most troubled by the OS1
prosecutions. On August 28, 1996, the UNCHR subcommission voted to dismiss the complaints
without bringing them to the attention of the full commilttee.

Criticism of 081 is not always so issuc-oriented. [t is sometimes case-driven. The
prosecutions which generated the most criticism were Demjanjuk, Artukovic, and Linnas, each of
which is discussed elsewhere in this report.™

There is also an overnding philosophical debate. Was there anything one could do in the
United States to expiate a past of persecution on behalf of the Mazis? Those who defended
rocket scientist Arthur Rudolph, Yale instructor Vladimir Sokolov, and Austrian president Kurt
Waldheim certainly thought so. And much the same argument was made on behalf of many less
prominent OS] defendants, to wit, their decades-long quiet and law-abiding lives in the United
States should outweigh anything done during their youth.

The Demjanjuk case raised a unique philosophical issue: he had already spent seven
vears in solitary confinement in [srael on the erroneous adjudication that he was Ivan the
Termble. Should he be retried, even if {(as was proven) he had served as a guard at the Sobibor
death camp?® And what of Jacob Tannenbaum? His prosecution raised the issue of whether an
incarcerated Jew, lacing almost certain extinction, should also be viewed as a persecutor.

Looking back at the criticism of O8I, it is evident that the bulk of it came from emigré
groups, although not all such groups were critical.™ Criticism also came from other sources,
however, The Veterans of Foreign Wars (VFW) passed a resolution critical of OSI at their

national convention in August 1984.%  The following year, 28 co-sponsors introduced a
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resolution in the Michigan Senate condemning OS1 for working with the Soviel authorities,
although the Senate adjourned without voting on the measure.  Meither the VEW nor the
Michigun legislature ever referenced OS5I before or since. Congressman James Traficant was
also often critical of OSL™ He sccused the office of using evidence doctored by the Eastern bloc
in both the Demjanjuk and Artukovie prosecutions’ and of inappropriately intimidating Rudolph
into leaving the country.™

While the vast majority of OSI's detractors are well motivated, it is impossible to ignore
the fact that a small percentage of the criticism is redolent of anti-Semitism and Holocaust
revisionist history. Some critics questioned whether there had ever been gassings in
concentration camps;” some saw Jews as persecutors, rather than victims, blaming them for
tyvranny and atrocities committed in the name of Communism.*® Patrick Buchanan — whose
criticisms often focused on substance, procedure and political philosophy® — doubted the value
of survivor testimony. He referred to it as “Holocaust Survivor Syndrome” replete with “group
fantasies of martyrdom and heroics.”™ Karl Linnas’ daughters, appealing to the Estonian
community for funds, implied that the “injustice™ done to their father had been brought about by
Jewish judges, and opined that judges and prosecutors of Jewish origin should be required to
Jisqualify themselves from these cases, As they saw it, “These trials are a part of the overall
cifort o use the holocaust as propaganda in order to gain further political and hinancial support
for the state of Tsruel. ™ A board member of the Captive Nations Committee suggested that OS]
personnel showed greater lovalty to Israel than to the United States.™

The criticism was greatest during the Cold War vears, when the emigré groups were most

active and when Buchanan, the most prominent single critie, had a highly visible platform as a
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syndieated columnist, television commentator and White House staffer,” On his last day in the
White House, Buchanan gave a wide-ranging interview. Among the many questions he was
asked, there was one about O8I He explained his motivation.  “1 see these people as
undefended. Someone is called a Nazi war criminal, and there is an automatic presumption of
guilt, not of innocence,™

At the time of this writing, the greatest remaining criticism is that OS] has outlived its
us¢lulness as a Mazi-hunting unit. According to this view, OS] may have prosecuted some
significant Nazi persecutors in the early years (e g, Otto von Bolschwing, Arthur Rudolph, Karl
Linnas and Andrija Artukovic), but since then the defendants have been “merely” camp guards or
members of auxiliary police units. These foot soldiers are too old, ill and insignificant to
prosecute at this late date.®” Perhaps the most poignant articulation of the view was made by a
Holocaust survivor who was contacted by OS1 in 1997 as a potential witness, He opined that it

WAS Now.

too long a period for effective implementation of sanctions against these
individuals, even if they are correctly identified and accused with valid evidence.
These criminals must now be in their cighties and on their way out. Let God deal
with them, if He hasn’t already. Men’s action in the service of Justice after 50
vears must necessarily be feeble at this stage. Accordingly, I respecifully suggest
that vour formidable resources and energies be used for more current causes,
where they can do some good.*

As the Department of Justice views it, however, allowing someone to remain in the U.S.
because his wartime activity was not discovered soaner, is to reward those who were most
successful in concealing the truth, While the decision to file a case 1s always discretionary, the
Holtzman Amendment = which in large measure parallels OS0's mandate — precludes any

discretionary relicl for those whom the courts deem deportable because of their activities during
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World War Il. This suggests that Congress has closed the door to any “sympathy™ argument on
hehalf of those who persecuted in the name of the Nazis. And while guards may have been
simply cogs in the war machine, their role was nonetheless vital. As one appellate court noted:

If the operation of such a camp were treated as an ordinary criminal conspiracy,
the armed guards, like the lookouts for a gang of robbers, would be deemed
coconspirators, or if not, certainly aiders and abettors of the conspiracy; no more
should be required to satisfy the noncriminal provision of the Holtzman
Amendment that makes assisting in persecution a ground for deportation.*




1. Eg, Matrick Buchanan, on Aficr Howrs, Jan. 7, 1982, a locally-aired CBS television broadcast
in Washington, D.C. referred to OS] defendants as:

a bunch of bums who are nearing 60, 70, 80 years old, who probably should have
gone 1o prison, some of whom probably should have been shot. But if you've got
a certain amount of law enforcement resources, and the problems you've got in
this country, it just seems (o me that allocating them to running down aggressively
these people is just not proper use of resources.

2. July 15, 2005 e-mail from Mark Richard to Judy Feigin re “Critics of OSL1.” Some Jewish
concern persisted even afier the office won cases. In 1984, The New York Times referenced -
without naming them — “[s]ome people, including some Jews, [who] question whether the . . .
effort to round up such relatively minor figures before old age claims them is worth the bother.”
“The Hunt for Nazis Shifts Into High Gear,” by Stuart Taylor, Jr., Sept. 23, 1984,

3. See p.10. See also, S. Paul Zumbakis, Soviet Evidence in North American Courts — An
Analysis of Problems and Concerns with Reliance on Communist Source Evidence in Alleged
War Criminal Trials (Americans for Due Process, 1986), pp. 96, 107 (hereafter Zumbakis).

{ This treatise was commissioned by the Ukrainian Canadian Committee and Americans for Due
Process, a coalition of East European emigré groups); “The Lithuanian, Latvian and Estonian
Declaration Regarding the OSL” Drougas, Nov. 13, 1985,

4, See p. 10. In 1980, Director Ryvan sent letters to members of the Estonian community who
might have information about a concentration camp in that country. The letter included the
statement: "Please be assured that this investigation focuses upon the acts of individuals; it in no
way reflects upon Estonian-bom Americans as a whole.” Similarly, Ryan's Feb. 23, 1981 letter
to Pedro Mirchuck, President of the Ukrainian Society of Political Prisoners, Inc., and his Sept.
17, 1982 letter to Thor Rakowsky, Esq., Ukrainian American Bar Ass'n stated: [ am well aware
that many Eastern Europeans, Ukrainians among them, immigrated to the United States because
they detested Soviet rule. And I need hardly add that only a very small minority of immigrants
under the Displaced Persons Act had in fact been Nazi collaborators.”

Ryan also spoke to various ethnie groups, such as the Ukrainian-American Bar
Association in Newark, New Jersey.

3. Eg,“If You Fought Communism You Must be Deported Says 1979 ULS. Law,” Larvian
Mewy Dipest, Jan, 1985, See ulso, “How to Defend Oneself from Attacks by OS1,” Darbinikas [a
Brooklyn-based Lithuanian language weekly]. Sept. 23, 1983, Bur ree, “The Lithuanian, Latvian
and Fstonian Declaration Regarding the OS1” supra, n. 3, which, though excoriating OS1's
practices, urged cooperation with the office in the search for “real war cnminals.™

6. £z Soviet publications fiest reported that Yale instructor Viadimir Sokolov had collaborated
with the MNazis during World War Il (see p. 194); a KGB publication was the first to identify
Serpe Kowulchuk, (see UL5 v. Kowalcik, 571 F. Supp. 72, 77 (E.D. Pa. 1983), aff"d en banc,
773 F.2d 488 (3 Cir. 1985)); and a Soviet newspaper identified Karl Linnas as chief of a
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concentration camp in Estonia. “Reds Accuse Ller [Long Islander] of Nazi War Crimes,” by
Maurice Swift and Lou Schwanz, Long [land Newsdeay, May 23, 1961.

7. Seeeg, US v. Kungys, 571 F. Supp. 1104, 1124 (D.N.J. 1983), rev'd on other grnds, 793
F.2d 516 (3 Cir. 1986), rev 'd, 485 U.S. 759 (1988). See afvo, “Proclamation from the Leaders
of Lithvanian Action,” Draugas, Dec. 29, 1984; “Nazi-Hunt Methods Protestied; Ethnic Coalition
Objects 1o Soviet Evidence,” by Jay Mathews, The Washington Post, Mar. 23, 1985.

While today such concerns may seem hyperbolic, they appeared less so during the Cold
War, when tensions and distrust between the two superpowers were enormous. The Soviet
judicial system, which had banished such well-known dissidents as Andre Sakharov and Anatoly
Scharansky, was routinely criticized in the western media for its sham political trials.

8. E g, Jan. 1982 meeting with AAG Jensen; Nov. 1983 and Sept. 1985 meetings with AAG
Trot; March 1987 meeting with Attomey General Meese and AAG Weld.

9. Representatives from Americans for Due Process met with White House personnel from the
Mational Security Counsel, Office of the General Counsel and Office of Public Liaison on Oct.
14, 1983,

10. Those who were included Archbishop Trifa, Vladimir Sokolov (arrested in 1957 for
protesting outside the Soviet embassy in New York), and Ferenc Koreh, discussed at pp. 192-
238. However, the vast majority of OS] defendants were “quiet neighbors,” as described by
former OS] Director Allun Eyan in his 1984 book of the same name.

11. The case against Mykola Kowalchuk had been filed before OSI was founded. OS] dismissed
the suit in 1981.

12, July 5, 1974 letnter to Joshua Eilberg, Chair of the House Subcommittee on Imm., Citizenship
and Internat’l Law, from Linwood Holon, Ass’t Sec'y for Congressional Relations, DOS. 1977
Hearing on Alleged Nazi War Criminals bef. the Subctee on Imm., Citizenship and Internat’l
Law of the House Judiciary Committee, 95" Cong., 1™ Sess., Aug. 3, 1977, pp. 69-70 (hereafier
1977 Hearings).

13. Aug. 1, 1974 letter from Holton to Eilberg, 1977 Hearings, supra, n. 12, at p. 71.

14. July 13, 1976 letter to Eilberg from Lawrence Eagleburger, Deputy Under Secretary of State,
1977 Hearnings, supra, n. 12, at p. 20.

15. Seep. 11,

16. See e.g, “Moscow Pledges Help in War Crimes Cases in ULS." by David Shipler, The New
Yourk Times, Feb, 6, 1980,

None of the agreements prior to the memorandum of understanding was written. This led
some critics of OS] to speculate that nefarious quid pro quos had been given. See e g,
Zumbakis, supra, n. 3, at pp. 29-33: “The Justice Department is Not Concerned About Justice,”
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Draugas, Oct. 8, 1985, DOJ officials denied any quid pro quo.

17. See eg.. Nov. 23, 1983 letter from DAAG Richard 10 Congressman Bitl McCollum,
responding to questions raised by the Americans Against Defamation of Ukrainians.

18. See, “Soviet Proof Key in LS. Nazi Cases,” by Robert Gillette, The Los Angeles Times, Apr,
27. 1986. Moreover, according to one newspaper account, an unnamed Soviet official “confided
to an American diplomat™ that some witnesses were coached for days before being allowed 1o
give depositions. “Soviet Aide Wamed U.S. on War Crime Evidence,” by Roben Gillette, The
Los Angeles Times, Apr. 28, 1986,

19. The Mykola Kowalchak case, in which Soviet evidence led to the dismissal of charges, 15 the
mast conspicuous. The Soobzokov matter is also telling. If the Soviels were going to embellish
or fabricate, one would expect this in Soobzokov's case since there were allegations that he had
worked with the CIA. Yet the Soviet witnesses, interviewed afier these allegations were made
public, did not provide sufficient information to justify charges based on persecution. See p. 349,

20. Eg., US v. Linnas, 527 F. Supp. 426, 433 (E.D.N.Y. 1981), aff°d, 685 F. 2d 427 (2™ Cir.);
Matter of Laipenieks, A11 937 435 (Imm. Ct., San Diego, Cal. 1982), p. 58, rev'd, 18 L&N. Dec.
433 (BIA 1984), rev'd, 750 F.2d 1427 (9" Cir. 1985).

21. E g, Matter of Laipenieks, supra, n. 20, US. v. Kungys, supra,n. 7, 571 F. Supp. at 1126-
27.

22, “Digging Into the Past,” by Mary Mycio, The Los Angeles Times, Oct. 18, 1994, The
defendant was Bohdan Koziy. The wilness’ testimony would not have allered the outcome of the
U5, proceeding. Documentary evidence established that Koziy had been a member of the
Ukrainian police force, a movement hostile to the United States. The recanted testimony accused
Koziy of murdering a four year old Jewish child; other Soviet witnesses (who did not recant but
who have since died), also testified about the murder.

23. See Zumbakis, supra, n. 3, at p. 21. While it is impossible to know how often judges
resorted 10 the written text rather than the videotape, at least one judge acknowledged doing so.
LS v Linnas, supra, n, 20, 327 F. Supp. at 433, n.15. Another noted the difficulty of assessing
demeanor from a videotape and through an interpreter. U8, v. Kowalchuk, supra, n. 6, 571 F.

Supp. at 79.

24. E.g., Kalejs v. INS, 10 F.3d 441, 447 (7™ Cir. 1993); (7.5, v. Koziy, 540 F. Supp. 25 (S.D.,
Fla. 1982), aff d, 728 F.2d 1314 (11" Cir.); U8, v. Palcianskas, 559 F. Supp. 1294 (M.D. FL.
1983), wff el 734 F.2d 625 (1 1th Cir. 1984). In both Koziv and Palcianskas, the defense,
protesting the waking of depositions in the U.S.S.R., refused to anend.

23, United Srates v. Kungvs, supra, n. 7, 571 F. Supp. at 1123-1126: United States v. Sprogis,
No. CV-82-1804 (E.DN.Y. 1984), wffd. 763 F2d 115 (2™ Cir): US v. Kowalchuk, supra, n, 6,
571 F. Supp. at 79; Laipenivks v, INS, 750 F.2d 1427, 1432 (9" Cir. )y Matter of Maikovskis,
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A0S 194 566 (Imm. Cr, N.Y ., N.Y. 1983), rev ' on other prnds (BIA 1984), aff'd, 773 F.2d 435
(2™ Cir. 1985).

26. UK v. Linnas, supra, n. 20, 527 F. Supp. at 434, n.16: Manter of Laipenicks, supra, n. 20;
LIS v. Osidach, 513 F. Supp. 51, 90 (E.D. Pa. 1981}

27. See e.g., fumbakis, supra, n. 3, at p.16. A similar problem derived from the inability to
travel at will within the Soviet Union during the Cold War. This sometimes precluded the parties
from visiting places where persons familiar with the crucial events still resided. At least one
court expressed some concerm about this issue. US. v. Kowalchuk, supra, n. 6, 371 F. Supp. at

79.

28. See p. 12. When informed of defense concems that the Soviets would favor requests from
OS] over requests from the defense, the Justice Department agreed to pass along all requests; the
Soviets were not 1old which party sought the information. Nov. 23, 1983 |etter to defense
counsel David Springer from AAG Trott.

29. “0SI and the Archives of the FSU [former Soviet Union],” Apr. 1994 address of OS] Senior
Historian Michael MacQueen to the Association of Historians in the Federal Government,
delivered at the U.S. Holocaust Memorial Museum.

Of course OS] historians routinely searched the National Archives’ collection of captured
German records, the Berlin Document Center, and records of associated investigations and/or
trials conducted by the Germans in the early post-war years.

30. Eg., US. Ciurinskas, 976 F. Supp. 1176 (N.D. Ind. 1997), aff"d, 148 F.3d 729 (7" Cir.
1998); US v. Demjanjuk, 2002 WL 544622 (N.D. Ohio 2002), aff°d, 367 F.3d 623 (6™ Cir.
2004) ; U.S. v. Hajda, 963 F. Supp. 1452 (N.D. 1il. 1997), afi"d, 135 439 (7" Cir. 1998); /5. v.
Kairys, 600 F. Supp. 1254 (N.D. 11l. 1984), aff"d, 782 F.2d 1374 (7* Cir.); Manter of Kalejs, Al
655 361 (Imm. Ct., Chicago, I1l. 1988), aff"d, (BIA 1992), aff"d sub nom. Kalejs v. INS, 10 F.3d
441 (7" Cir. 1993); U.S. v. Koreh, 856 F. Supp. 891 (D.NLJ. 1994), aff"d, 59 F.3d 431 (3 Cir.);
LS. v. Koziy, supra, n. 24, 540 F. Supp. 25; Matter of Laipenieks, supra, n. 20; ULS. v. Lileikis,
929 F. Supp. 31 (D. Mass. May 24, 1996); U.S. v. Linnas, supra, n, 20, 527 F. Supp. 426; Matter
of Maikovskis, supra, n. 25; U8, v. Sokolov, No. N-82-56-TFM (D). Conn. 1986), aff "d, 814 F.2d
864 (2™ Cir. 1987); U.S. v Srelmolkas, 1995 WL 464264 (E.D. Pa. 1995), aff"d, 100 F.3d 302
(3™ Cir. 1996).

The two cases in which the issue of authenticity was most exhaustively litigated were
Demjanjuk and Kairys. Not all defendants raised authenticity questions of course. OSl
defendant George Theodorovich conceded the authenticity of some of the most damaging
documents OS] ever gathered — two reports signed by him relaving the number of Jews he killed
in “Jewish action[s].” (He denied the veracity of the reports however, contending in an
interview with OS[ attorneys that he had written the reports to cover up his anti-Nazi activines.)

Adalbert Ruckerl, the head of West Germany's War Crimes Unit in West Germany, met
with OSI's director and deputy director in 1982, He told them that West Germany had been
using evidence from the Soviet Union in war crimes tnals since 1963, vet the fabrication
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argument had never been raised. Apr. 19, 1982 memo to Kairys files from Sher re “Testimony of
Dr. Ruckerl, OS1 #97."

31. Eg. U8 v. Kairvs, supra, n. 30, 000 F, Supp. at 1260, The most dramatic fingerprint
evidence in an OS] case came in the Trife prosecution. See p. 216.

32, Recvorded interview with handwriting analyst Gideon Epstein, Dec. 6, 2000 (herealier
Epstein interview.) Epstemn testified successfully for the government in the Kairvs, Kalefs,
Sakolov, and Demjunjuk cases. He was deposed in Kalymon. However, his credibility was
called into question in two non-051 cases. Pasha v, Gonzales, 433 F.3d 530, 535 (7" Cir. 2005)
and Wolf v. Ramsey, 253 F. Supp. 2d 1323, 1347-1348 (N.D. Ga., 2003).

33, E g, Matter of Kalejs, supra, n. 30, at p.10; U.S. v. Koziv, supra, n. 24, 540 F. Supp. at 31;
U.S. v. Lileikis, supra, n. 30, 929 F. Supp. at 38, n. 12. See also, U.S. v. Linnas, supra, n. 20, 527
F. Supp. at 434, where the court found *strong indications™ that incriminating documents were
authored by the defendant,

34, Eg., US v. Demjanjuk, supra, n. 30, 2002 WL 544622, U.5. v. Stelmokas, supra, n. 30, 100
F.3d at 312 (3" Cir. 1996}, /.5, v Kairys, supra, n. 30, 782 F.2d at 13382.

35. As discussed at p. 444, n. 9, the pension application gave OS5I crucial service information for
the prosecution of Kazys Ciurinskas.

36. Eg., Liudas Kairys had a scar on his hip.

37. In Kairys, for example, a document from the Soviet archives stated that the granting of
Lithuanian citizenship would be announced in a local newspaper. A copy of that newspaper was
found in the Library of Congress.

38. Information about ink and paper forensic techmyues comes from a recorded interview on
Jan. 21, 2003 with Antonio Cantu, forensic ink specialist with the U.5, Secret Service, as well as
from “Analytical Methods for Detecting Frandulent Documents,” an article by Dr. Cantu
published in the Sept. 1991 issue of American Chemical Society.

39. Some documents have multiple ink samples. In Demypanjuk, for example, the key document
cantained fountatn pen ink, stamp pad ink, typewnter nbbon ink and printing ink. All were
analvzed and dated. The stamp pad ink was not only dated, but a defect in the stamp was matched
with the same defect on other unrelated documenis prepared at about the same time.

0. Handwrnting analyst Chideon Epstein studied the features common among those who learned
w write in the same country during the same cra. To do so, he requested handwrniting exemplars
lrom members of cthnic organizations, language teachers and language students who leamed to
write 11 the place and tme of OSI subjects. Epstein interview.,
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41. This is not to say that OS] never doubted any forensic evidence from the Eastern bloe.
However, OSI did not use evidence of which it was uncertain. The author is aware of two cases
in which OS] had concerns about the evidence. Both were highly political matters caught up in
Cold War intrigue, as contrasted with the more typical apolitical OST defendant.

The authenticity of a photograph which surfaced during the Trifa investigation is
discussed at p. 212, The second instanee concerned an OS] investigation that was aboried due to
the subject’s death. 1t involved a 1.8, diplomat, born in the U.S.5.R. In 1977, while attending a
UNESCO meeting in the Soviet Union, he was approached by Soviet agents who threatened to
expose him as a war criminal unless he began working for Soviet intelligence. He refused to do
so, and reported the attempted blackmail to the State Department when he retumed. The incident
received wide publicity, with the U5, lodging a protest and the Secretary of State raising the
issue with the Soviet Ambassador 1o the U.S. See e.g., “U.5. and Soviet Dispuie Blackmail

[ncident,” The New York Times, Mov. 2, 1977.
Two months after the diplomat returmed to the U.S., the Soviets sent the State Department

a packet of evidentiary matenal to bolster their assertion that the diplomat was a war enminal.
The diplomat denied the allegations and a State Department inquiry exonerated him in October
1978. Because of the nature of the charges, OS1 looked into the matter. An OSI memorandum
referred to one Soviet document on which “the line spacing looks irregular, which suggests the
possibility that the document has been altered™ and another on which “many of the items next to
his name are not aligned with the other entries.™ Apr. 25, 1980 memorandum from OS] attormney
Robin Boylan to Neal Sher re “Starus Report: Warvariv, Constantine.” (The diplomat’s name
was reported in the press.) The documents had not undergone forensic testing before Warvariv's

death in 1982.

42, E.g, US v. Szehinskyy, 104 F. Supp. 2d 480, 500 (E.D. Pa. 2000), afi"d, 277 F.3d 331 (3"
Cir. 2002). See also, U.S. v. Stelmolkas, supra, n. 30, 100 F, 3" at 313; U.S. v. Lileikis, supra, n.
30, 929 F. Supp. at 37.

This conclusion was supported by Viadimir Grachev, Second Secretary from 1979 to
1986 to Anatoly Dobrynin, Soviet Ambassador to the United States. In that position, and in the
two years following when he was stationed in Moscow, Dr. Grachev's responsibilities included
overseeing the Soviet response to OS51's requests for evidence. During a January 16, 2003
meeting with OSI Director Rosenbaum, Dr. Grachev, then serving as Principal Officer, Executive
Office of the Secretary General of the United Nations. was adamant that there had never been any
fabrication of documents by the Soviets in OSI cases, nor was there ever an attempt 1o frame
anyone. According to Grachev. the Soviets took cooperation on this issue “very, very senously.”
MNone of the cases presented a threat 1o national security; therefore they were not “vital” from the
Soviet viewpoint. “What was vital was to keep the bridge open, which this did.”

43. Eg, US v. Hajda, 135 F.3d 439 (7* Cir. 1998).
44. Eg, US v. Reimer, 2002 WL 32101927 (S.D.N.Y. 2002).

45. U5 v Balsys, 524 1.5, 666 (1998) (self-incrimination); U5 v. Schiffer, 836 F. Supp. 1164,
1172 (E.D. Pa. 1993, aff"d, 31 F.3d 1175 (3™ Cir. 1994) (right to counsel); U5, v. Ciurinskas,
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supra, n, 30, 148 F.3d at 735 (jury inal); U5, v Kowalchuk, supra, n. 6, 5371 F. Supp. at 78
(statute of limitations), LS. v. Mandyez, 447 F.3d 951, 962 (6™ Cir. 2006) (competency).

46. Scheffong v. INS, 805 F.2d 655, 662 (7™ Cir. 1986) (ex post facto and bill of attainder);
Linnas v. INS, 790 F.2d 1024, 1029-30 (2™ Cir. 1985).

47. Eg., “The Lithuanian, Latvian and Estonian Declaration Regarding the OSL” supra, n. 3.
See also discussion of the Mar. 5, 1987 meeting of six Baltic leaders with the Atormney General
and several senior otficials in the Justice Depariment at pp. 280-281. Patrick Buchanan made the
same argument in a televised debate with Eli Rosenbaum, who was then serving in the private
sector as General Counsel to the WIC. Crosskire, Apr. 15, 1987.

48. U.S. v. Schuk, 565 F. Supp. 613, 615 (E.D. Pa. 1983). The basis for this view is that
Fedorenko barred all equitable defenses in denaturalization proceedings. See also, U5 v
Mandyez, supra, n. 45.

49. U.S. v. Kairys, supra, n. 30, 782 F.2d at 1383; U.S. v. Schmidt, 1990 WL 6667 (N.D. 11l
1990), afi"d, 923 F.2d 1253 (7" Cir.); U5, v. Koreh, 59 F.3d 431, 445(3rd Cir. 1995); U.S. v.
Demjanjuk, supra, n, 30, 2002 WL 544622,

50. Martin Bartesch, Johann Breyer, John Demjanjuk, Nikolaus Schiffer, Anton Tittjung,
Ferdinand Hammer.

51. Defendants who have been ordered deported lose their right to collect Social Security
benefits. This 1s why some defendants leave the country voluntarily, either as part of a
settlement agreement or by simply fleeing before proceedings are concluded. Whether a non-
citizen can receive social security benefits when living overseas is determined on a country by
country basis, depending on U.S. reciprocity agreements with the various nations.

32, See pp. 150-174, 239-258, 271-2935.
53. E g, commenits of Patrick Buchanan quoted in “The Edge,” New Fimes, June 10, 1999,

54. In 1985, many East European ethnic groups formed the Coalition for Constitutional Justice,
a political action group dedicated to OSIissues. The coalition's membership included the
Estonian American National Council; the Lithuanian American Community of the U.S.; the
Ukrainian National Information Service; the Byelorussian Anti-Defamation Federation;
Americans Against Defamation of Ukrainians, the Juint Baltic American National Committee;
Ban Coalition of Costa Mesa (formerly Ban the Soviets Coalition); and the Coalition Against
Soviet Apgression, Los Angeles.

The coalition had three objectives: (1) the investigation of OSI by a congressional
committee: (2) amendment of the laws under which OS] operates: and (3) preventing the
deportation of any Baltic national to his country of vrigin. “Let’s Not Close Our Eyes to Danger,
A Conversation with Amanas Mazcika,” Draneas, Mar. 15, 1985,

Some emigré orgamizations expressed conlidence in the ability of the American judicial
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system to evaluate Soviet sourced evidence. See e g., Jan. 9, 1985 letter to OS] Director from
Aloysius Mazewski, President of the Polish American Congress, Inc.; Mar. 22, 1984 letter to the
Attorney General and the Chairs of the House and Senate Judiciary Committees from self-
described “Polish ethnic leaders:™ Rev. Leonard Chrobot, Polish American Congress, Jan
Mowak, Former Director, Polish Section, Radio Free Europe, Rev. John Pawlikowski, Professor,
Catholic Theological Union, Dr, Thaddeus Gromada, Secretary-General, Polish I[nstitute of Ans

& Science.

55. Resolution 448, introduced by James MacDonald, was adopted by blanket motion (passed
unless objected to). It described OSI as “the willing and subservient official American
Government tool of the Russian Empire strategically placed in the offices of the U.S. Department
of Justice” and called upon the President and the Senate to investigate the office. Nothing ever

came of this request.

56. In 1984, Traficant, an Ohio county sheriff, had been prosecuted by the Department of Justice
for bribery. He was elected to Congress following his acquittal. One of his major themes in
office was alleged prosecutorial misconduct by the Justice Department.

Traficant proposed various remedies for OSI's alleged perfidies. These included the
appointment of a special prosecutor to handle the Demjanjuk case, Congressional review of
(SI's handling of the Rudolph matter, and having the House investigate the “practices and
patterns of behavior” of OSI. “Traficant: Justice, Heal Thyself and Leave Demjanjuk Alone,” by
Michael Hedges. The Washington Times, Jan. 5, 1994; H. Res. 404, 101" Cong., 2d Sess., May
24, 1990; “Traficant Says Memos Show ‘Ivan the Terrible” Witness Lied,” by C. Harvey, The
Washington Times, Aug. 3, 1989, Traficant cited OSI’s conduct in Demjanjuk as one
justification for an independent federal agency to investigate allegations of wrongdoing by
Justice Department personnel. Testimony before the House Judiciary Subcommittee on
Commercial and Administrative Law on H.R. 4105, the “Fair Justice Act,” July 27, 2000. None
of Traficant's proposals was adopted.

In 2002, Traficant was convicted of corruption, bnibery, racketeering and tax evasion. He
was sentenced to eight years in prison and expelled from Congress.

57. E g, Feb. 5, 1990 letter 1o the Attorney General.

58. As set forth on p. 340, n. 19, the Congressman contended that OSI played on Rudolph’s ill
health and fear of losing his NASA retirement benefits. “Traficant Supports Rudolph,” by Mike
Paludan, The Huntsville Times, May 13, 1990,

39, E.g. Jan. 5, 1985 letter to Attorney General Meese from The Council of the Latvian
Officers” Ass™n in Australia and New Zealand; Patrick Buchanan, “Deadly, Dubious .D. Card,”
Washington Times, Mar. 19, 1990. The American Latvian Ass'n repudiated the Australian letter,
condemning its “contents, tone and implications.” May 15, 1985 letter to Attorney General
Meese from Ojars Kalnins, Public Relations Director, American Latvian Ass'n.

Buchanan received much criticism for his alleged anti-Semitism. “U.S. Media Should
Shun Buchanan,” by Alan Dershowitz, The Jerusalem Post, Oct. 16, 1990; “The Heresies of Pat
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Buchanan: Cruising for a Bruising; Antisemitism and Conservatism,” by Jacob Weisherg, The
New Republice, Oct. 22, 1990; “Forgive Them Not.” by A.M. Rosenthal, The New York Times,
Sept. 14, 1990; “Anger on the Right: Pat Buchanan’s Venomous Crusade,” issued by the ADL
1991; “Pat Buchanan & the Jewish Question,™ by Howard Kurtz, The Fushington Post, Sept. 20,
1990; “Conservatism Gets Soiled,” by George Will, Newsweek, Mar. 4, 1996. See also, the Dec.
30, 1991 1ssue of The Narional Review wherein William F. Buckley, Ir. raises the issue.

One of the newspapers in which Buchanan was syndicated took the extraordinary step of
distancing itself from him because it deemed anti-Semitism to be the root of too many of his
columns. “Pat Buchanan and the Jews,” New York Post, Sept. 19, 1990.

60. Dec. 4, 1984 letter from Eduard Rubel, 2 member of the Board of Directors of the Captive
Mations Committee, to Secretary of State George Shultz; Latvian Officers’ Ass'n letter, supra, n.
59,

61. See pp. 95, n. 1, 174, n. 46, 277, 279-281, 337, 378, 552, notes 47 and 53.
62. “Deadly, Dubious [.D. Card,” supra, n. 539,

63. June 14, 1983 letter from Anu, Tiina and Epp Linnas to “Estonians and friends of
Estonians.”

64. Dec. 4, 1984 letter from Eduard Rubel, supra, n. 60.

63. Over the years, Buchanan was a presidential counselor and communications director (in the
Reagan administration), speech writer (for both presidents Nixon and Reagan), syndicated
columnist, television pundit, host of a nationally televised talk show (Craossfire), and presidential
aspirant (1992 and 1996 in the Republican primaries and 2000 as the Reform Party candidate).
In addition to the columns and television appearance referenced in n. 61, supra, see “Mazi
Criminal or U.S. Hero,” The New York Post, July 16, 1989 (arguing against OSI's investigation
of Arthur Rudolph); “Of Mazis and NASA: The Case of Arthur Rudolph.” CrossFire, July 11,
19590; and “We Condemn Waldheim — but Embrace the Real Bad Guy,” The Chicago Sun-Times,

Mar. 3, 1588,

66. “Crucial Tests Confront Nazi-Hunting Bureau; Critics Question Use of Soviet-Supplied
Evidence and Call for War-Crime Trials in U.S5..)" by Michael Dobbs, The Washington Post, Mar.
24, 1987.

67. Eg. Bnan Gildea, a defense attorney who has handled several OSI cases, described the
defendants as insignificant nobodys forced into uniform by Nazi conguerors, “Nazi Hunters Race
the Grim Reaper for Aging Prey,” by Frank Murray, The Weashington Times, Sept. 7. 1997,
Defense attomey Roben Murtha, describing his client as “a crippled old man ina

wheelchair, in dialvsis,” accused OS] of “persecuting old men in the interest of keeping their
own jobs.,” “Nazi Hunter Battles Time to Ferret Out Hitler’s Foot Soldiers,” by Stephen Koft,
2002 Newhouse News Service,

Art Simai, a deputy director for one vear at O50's founding, was interviewed about the oflice
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in 2001, He felt it had “degenerate[d]” into prosecution of people who had volunteered or been
drafted into some cthnic group, people who were simply Naz sympathizers, had no high profile,
were not involved in specific atrocities, and who “just served,” as opposed to the high level
people OS] had expected to find at the outset. “They are doing God’s work but itis a
bureaucracy that just won't let go, and it is too sensitive a thing for anyone to stop.” Sinai
opined that prosecuting a guard who is now in his 80s squandered “Jewish credibility.”
Recorded interview, Oct. 1, 2001,

68. Oct, 13, 1997 letter to OSI attorney Ellen Chubin from Alexander Rosner, a survivor of
Plaszow, Gross Rosen, Auschwitz and Dachau. Mr, Rosner sent a copy of this letter to the
Director of Registry of Holocaust Survivors at the United States Holocaust Memaorial Museum in

Washington, D.C.
69. Kairysv. INS, 981 F.2d 937,942 (7" Cir. 1992).
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Conclusion

(S evolved from an office focused solely on Nazi persecutors in the United States 1o an
office concerned with Nazis world-wide and with Holocaust issues that transcend any litigative
agenda. This evolution is due to a confluence of disparate factors.  Some were foreseeable and
vthers not.

Most unexpected, perhaps, were geopolitical changes, including changes in the world’s
thinking about genocide. Given a spate of world courts and tnbunals examining modern war
crimes, it became more awkward for countries to ignore those who persecuted with, or on behalf
of, the Nazis, Moreover, the end of the Cold War - unthinkable at the time OSI was founded -
resulted in some former Eastern bloc countries seeking to join western economic and political
unions. Since some of these countries were the very ones most complicit in aiding the Nazis
during World War [1, the U.S. suddenly had leverage over them which it had previously lacked.
Aided by the State Department, OSI made the most of such changing circumstances by
suggesting that prosecution of Nazi persecutors was one way to establish that a country shared
the values necessary for membership in these organizations.

0OSI's role as a resource for resolution of World War [1-related issues was arguably more
predictable than its role as an exhorter to other countries to pursue Nazi persecutors in Lheir
midst. As courts issued rulings in O51 cases, the office scholarship and research gained the
imprimatur of jurisprudential approval. The publicity of the carly cases, and the government’s
determination to keep Congress and the public informed of OSI's work, kept these matters in the
public eye. It was natural, therefore. for Congressional and public pressure to build on OS] to

become involved in other World War Il issues. The positive response to the Justice
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Department’s handling of the lirst of these issues, the role of the United States in Barbie's escape
from justice, led to subsequent assignments.’

Because of OSI's enhanced role and responsibilities, the office legacy will be far greater
than could have been foreseen originally. Although it is too early to make a definitive
determination of that legacy, some of the components are clear.

The office prevailed in almost all its litigation and helped make groundbreaking law in
three Supreme Court decisions. Since its founding, it has filed more cases of its kind than any
country in the world.” Indeed, nine new defendants were charged as late as 2002 — more than in
any vear since OSI's founding.” That is an astonishing statistic, given that the pool of potential
defendants is steadily dwindling with the death of subjects. That the litigation continues is a
testament 1o the perseverance of OS] and the continuing commitment of the government through

successive administrations and Congresses.

The prosecutions have added to the objective judicial record of World War I which was
begun at Nuremberg. The cases stand as a permanent and irrefutable response 1o those who
would deny the Holocaust and its horrors, Camp conditions, the role played by indigenous
groups, the means used by the Nazis to train people to perform dehumanizing acts, all are
outlined in case after case. The underlying documentation, some based on groundbreaking
scholarship by O8I historians, is accessible in court files. In addition, complete records
{including exhibits) of several early OSI trials were microfilmed and donated 1o the archives of
the Yad Vashem museum in Jerusalem.” Once OSI has completed its Nazi-era work, it will
likely tum over similar material from more recent trials (though not in microfilm format) to the

U.S. Holocaust Museum as well as to Yad Vashem.
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The cases give meaning to the term “assistance in persecution,” and the way they do so1s
sigmbicant. They (ocus on the impwact rather than on the ineeat of the perpetrators. [t matiers not
whether the perpotrator intended or even wanded to victimize, The message resonating from
O51's cases is that the United States does not choose 1o add to its populace persons whose
actions victmized innocent civilians - even if the perpetrator was himself a victim of
circumsiances.

That is a powerful message that many hope will have a prophylactic impact on future
persecutors. Whether that hope will be realized 15 problematical. [t may well be that “[n]o
pumshment can affect the calculations of the genocidal, who are not careful calculators of cost-
benefit ratios.™  Even if that is the case, however, the prosecutions serve an affirming purpose
by holding people accountable and endorsing the higher aspirations of the body politic.”

In preparing its reports, working on World War Il related issues, and investigating and
litigating cases, OS] has gathered copies of many historical documents. A significant number
have been made public in OSI's court filings. Some have been disclosed as pan of the
underlyving documentation for OSI reports.  And an enormous amount, held by other government
agencies, has been released under the Nazi War Crimes Disclosure Act, which OS], as the Justice
Department’s representative on the Interagency Working Group, helps administer. The
Depanment of Justice is committed to making its remaining historical matenial available - as [ar
as possible consistent with privacy and national security concerns — so that others may use it for
their own scholarly and educational pursuits,

Once OS] has completed s Nazi-era work, the Department also hopes to disclose much

of the office’s hitigutive matenal. Thes, unlike captured histoncal documents, cannot be accessed
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clsewhere.® It includes OSI's massive collection of investigative records — suspect interrogation
and witness interviews by OS] personnel, histonians' reports, prosecution memos, depositions,
and the like. The material sheds light on many imporiant aspects of the Nazi era and will help
put captured historical documents in context.

While the import of OSI's work may not be fully appreciated before this material is made
public, the written record is not the only means of documenting the work of the office. OSI's
work has set standards not only for other countries pursuing MNazi persecutors but for
prosecutions unrelated to World War 1. [n December 2003, the International Criminal Tribunal
for Rwanda cited both the Koreh and Trifa decisions in its conviction of three propagandists for
inciting genocide.”

Some of OSI's influence is less tangible but no less significant. The Department of
Justice has always considered education to be part of OSI's mission. With the Department’s
encouragement, OS] historians have often participated in symposia at museums, universities and
scholarly institutions." OSI's Directors and staff have been guest speakers at public and civic
events including commencements and Holocaust remembrance programs. They have also
spoken to Jewish organizations, youth and survivor groups, students, residents in old age homes
and military personnel. -

There 15 also a much less public aspect to OSI's work. It is a poignant footnote to the
office history. Presumably due to the publicity the office has received over the years, private
citizens have asked the office for help in resolving family issues relating to World War 1. They
write 1o the office with shreds of information and want 1o know how to find out more. Was their

parent perhaps a Nazi collaborator? How can they find out? Although OSI does not do
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